Technische Universität München TUM School of Life Sciences



Targeting cancer metabolism enhances radiosensitivity by impairing the heat shock response

Melissa Elisabeth Schwab

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der TUM School of Life Sciences der Technischen

Universität München zur Erlangung einer

Doktorin der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitz: Prof. Dr. Percy A. Knolle

Prüfer*innen der Dissertation:

- 1. Prof. Dr. Gabriele Multhoff
- 2. Prof. Dr. Agnes Görlach
- 3. Prof. Dr. Udo Gaipl

Die Dissertation wurde am 16.08.2022 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die TUM School of Life Sciences am 09.02.2023 angenommen.

Contents

Contents III
Own research publications and poster presentationV
List of abbreviationsVII
List of figuresXI
SummaryXII
ZusammenfassungXIII
1 Introduction1
1.1 Cancer Metabolism1
1.2 Heat shock response6
1.2.1 Structure of Hsp707
1.2.2 Regulation of Hsp708
1.2.3 Functions of Hsp70 10
1.2.4 The role of Hsp70 in cancer and immunology 12
1.2.5 Heat shock proteins and cancer treatment
1.3 Aim of the study 15
2 Materials and methods 16
3 Summary of the included publications 20
3.1 Targeting Cancer Metabolism Breaks Radioresistance by Impairing the Stress Response
3.2 A Low Membrane Hsp70 Expression in Tumor Cells With Impaired Lactate Metabolism Mediates Radiosensitization by NVP-AUY922
4 Discussion

4.1	Heat shock response of cancer cells can be significantly reduced by targ	eting
the	lactate/pyruvate metabolism	24
4.2	Heat shock proteins as a target in cancer therapy	26
4.3	Overcoming the resistance mechanisms of cancer cells	27
5 E	Bibliography	30
6 A	ppendix	44
6.1	Eidesstattliche Erklärung	44
6.2	Reprint Permissions	45
6	2.1 Cancers	45
6	5.2.2 Frontiers in Oncology	45
6.3	Acknowledgment	46

Own research publications and poster presentation

During the master thesis at the University of Würzburg

- Pattschull, G., Walz, S., Grundl, M., Schwab, M., Ruhl, E., Baluapuri, A. Cindric-Vranesic, A., Kneitz, S., Wolf, E., Ade, C. P., Rosenwald, A., von Eyss, B., & Gaubatz, S. (2019). The Myb-MuvB Complex Is Required for YAP-Dependent Transcription of Mitotic Genes. *Cell Rep, 27*(12), 3533-3546 e3537. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2019.05.071
- Grundl, M., Walz, S., Hauf, L., Schwab, M., Werner, K. M., Spahr, S., Schulte, C., Maric, H. M., Ade, C. P., & Gaubatz, S. (2020). Interaction of YAP with the Myb-MuvB (MMB) complex defines a transcriptional program to promote the proliferation of cardiomyocytes. *PLoS Genet*, *16*(5), e1008818. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1008818

During the doctoral thesis at the Technical University of Munich

- Kuhnel, A., Schilling, D., Combs, S. E., Haller, B., Schwab, M., & Multhoff, G. (2019). Radiosensitization of HSF-1 Knockdown Lung Cancer Cells by Low Concentrations of Hsp90 Inhibitor NVP-AUY922. *Cells, 8*(10). doi:10.3390/cells8101166
- Fellinger, H., Stangl, S., Hernandez Schnelzer, A., Schwab, M., Di Genio, T., Pieper, M., Werner, C., Shevtsov, M., Haller, B., & Multhoff, G. (2020). Time- and Dose-Dependent Effects of Ionizing Irradiation on the Membrane Expression of Hsp70 on Glioma Cells. *Cells*, 9(4). doi:10.3390/cells9040912
- Lobinger, D., Gempt, J., Sievert, W., Barz, M., Schmitt, S., Nguyen, H. T., Stangl, S., Werner, C., Wang, F., Wu, Z., Fan, H., Zanth, H., Shevtsov, M., Pilz, M., Riederer, I., Schwab, M., Schlegel, J., & Multhoff, G. (2021). Potential Role of Hsp70 and Activated NK Cells for Prediction of Prognosis in Glioblastoma Patients. *Front Mol Biosci, 8*, 669366. doi:10.3389/fmolb.2021.669366
- Werner, C., Stangl, S., Salvermoser, L., Schwab, M., Shevtsov, M., Xanthopoulos, A., Wang, F., Bashiri Dezfouli, A., Thölke, D., Ostheimer, C., Medenwald, D., Windberg, M., Bache, M., Schlapschy, M., Skerra, A., & Multhoff, G. (2021). Hsp70 in Liquid Biopsies-A Tumor-Specific Biomarker for Detection and Response Monitoring in Cancer. *Cancers (Basel), 13*(15). doi:10.3390/cancers13153706
- Schwab, M., Thunborg, K., Azimzadeh, O., von Toerne, C., Werner, C., Shevtsov, M., Di Genio, T., Zdralevic, M., Pouyssegur, J., Renner, K., Kreutz, M., & Multhoff, G. (2021). Targeting Cancer Metabolism Breaks Radioresistance by Impairing the Stress Response. *Cancers (Basel), 13*(15). doi:10.3390/cancers13153762
- Schwab, M., & Multhoff, G. (2022). A Low Membrane Hsp70 Expression in Tumor Cells With Impaired Lactate Metabolism Mediates Radiosensitization by NVP-AUY922. Front Oncol, 12, 861266. doi:10.3389/fonc.2022.861266

Bashiri Dezfouli, A., Yazdi, M., Benmebarek, M. R., Schwab, M., Michaelides, S., Micciche, A., Geerts, D., Stangl, S., Klapproth, S., Wagner, E., Kobold, S., & Multhoff, G. (2022). CAR T Cells Targeting Membrane-Bound Hsp70 on Tumor Cells Mimic Hsp70-Primed NK Cells. *Front Immunol, 13*, 883694. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2022.883694

Poster presentation at the AACR Annual Meeting 2022

Schwab, M., Thunborg, K., Azimzadeh, O., von Toerne, C., Shevtsov, M., Zdralevic, M., Pouyssegur, J., Renner, K., Kreutz, M., Vaupel, P., & Multhoff, G. (2022). Down-regulation of cancer metabolism enhances radiosensitivity by impairing the heat shock response [abstract]. Proceedings of the American Association for Cancer Research Annual Meeting 2022; 2022 Apr 8-13. Philadelphia (PA): AACR; Cancer Res, 82 (12_Suppl):Abstract nr 5426. Doi:10.1158/1538-7445.AM2022-5426

List of abbreviations

5-FU	5-fluorouracil
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
AIF	Apoptosis-inducing factor
Apaf-1	Apoptosis protease-activating factor 1
APC	Allophycocyanin
Ask-1	Apoptosis signal-regulated kinase 1
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
ATPase	Adenosine triphosphatase
BAG	Bcl-2-associated athanogene
Bax	Bcl-associated X protein
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid
BMP	Bis(monoacylglycero)phosphate
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CAR	Chimeric antigen receptor
ССК-8	Cell Counting Kit-8
CHIP	C-terminal Hsp70-interacting protein
COX	Cyclooxygenase
C-terminal	Carboxy terminal
СТР	Cytosine triphosphate
DAMP	Damage-associated molecular pattern
DCFDA	Dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle's medium
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence
EDTA	Ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FBS	Fetal bovine serum

FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
Gb3	Globotriaosylceramide
GBM	Glioblastoma
Glut	Glucose transporter
GLUT1	Glucose transporter 1
GLUT3	Glucose transporter 3
GrB	Granzyme B
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate
HCL	Hydrochloric acid
HIF-1	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1
HIP	Hsp70 interacting protein
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
HSBP1	Heat shock factor binding protein 1
Hsc70	Cognitive heat shock protein 70
HSE	Heat shock elements
HSF	Heat shock factor
HSP	Heat shock protein
HSP70	HSP70 protein family
Hsp70 (old nomenclature Hsp70i/Hs	p72)Stress-inducible heat shock protein 70
HSPBP1	Hsp70 binding protein 1
HSR	Heat shock response
IFN-γ	Interferon-γ
lgG	Immunoglobulin G
IL	Interleukin
IL-2	Interleukin-2
JDPs	J-domain proteins
JNK	C-Jun N-terminal kinase
LAMP2A	Lysosomal-associated membrane protein 2A
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
LDH ^{-/-}	Lactate dehydrogenase A and B double knockout
LDHA	Lactate dehydrogenase A
LDHB	Lactate dehydrogenase B
mAb	Monoclonal antibody
MCT	Monocarboxylate transporter

MCT1	Monocarboxylate transporter 1
MCT4	
miRNA	Micro-RNA
mRNA	
mTORC1	Mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1
NaCl	Sodium chloride
NAD+	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NADH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide hydride
NaLac	Sodium lactate
NBD	Nucleotide binding domain
NEFs	Nucleotide exchange factors
NK cell	
NSAID	Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug
NSCLC	Non-small cell lung cancer
N-terminal/NH2-terminal	Amino terminal
OXPHOS	Oxidative phosphorylation
Ρ	Phosphate
р38 МАРК	
PARP1	
PBMCs	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PE	Phycoerythrin
Phgdh	Phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase
Pkm1/2	Pyruvate kinase muscle isoforms 1 and 2
RIPA	Radioimmunoprecipitation assay
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute
SBD	Substrate binding domain
SD	Standard deviation
SDS	
SDS-PAGESo	odium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
siRNA	Short interfering RNA
STI1	Stress-inducible protein 1

ТСА	Tricarboxylic acid cycle
TKD	14-mer Hsp70 peptide
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-α
TNFR1	Tumor necrosis factor receptor 1
T _{reg} cells	Regulatory T cells
TRIS	Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane
TTP	Thymine triphosphate
UTP	Uracil triphosphate
WT	Wild type

List of figures

Figure 1: The six hallmarks of cancer1
Figure 2: Energy generation in normal and cancer cells
Figure 3: Relationships between energy metabolism and anabolism of macromolecules
Figure 4: Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) genes, subunits and enzyme oligomers 4
Figure 5: Schematic representation of the common domain structures of the human
Hsp70 chaperone7
Figure 6: Heat shock factor 1 (HSF1) activation cycle
Figure 7: Schematic illustration of the main findings

Summary

Increased lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity, elevated levels of the oncometabolite lactate in the tumor microenvironment and overexpression of anti-apoptotic heat shock proteins (HSPs) can mediate therapy resistance (i.e. radioresistance) of cancer cells. In this study, I aimed to investigate the relationship of LDH and the cellular stress response with respect to radiation resistance. My results showed that the lactate metabolism and heat shock response are co-regulated in two different tumor cell systems (murine B16F10 melanoma and human LS174T colorectal adenocarcinoma). A CRISPR/Cas9-induced double knockout of LDHA/B (LDH^{-/-}) and pharmacological inhibition of LDH by the pyruvate analog oxamate reduced tumor growth, reactive oxygen species (ROS) production and synthesis of several HSPs, including Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27. In addition, LDHA/B knockout cells exhibited an altered lipid metabolism including a decreased expression of the tumor-specific glycosphingolipid globotriaosylceramide (Gb3) which enables membrane anchorage of Hsp70 to the plasma membrane of tumor cells. Therefore, the Hsp70 membrane positivity of cancer cells with a diminished LDH activity was also significantly reduced. As a functional consequence of the impaired lactate metabolism and heat shock response the radiosensitivity of cancer cells was significantly enhanced. In order to study the effects of an Hsp70-inducing Hsp90 inhibitor on cells with impaired lactate metabolism wild type (WT) and LDH^{-/-} cells were treated with non-lethal concentrations of the Hsp90 inhibitor NVP-AUY922. As expected, NVP-AUY922 increased the cytosolic expression of Hsp70 and Hsp27 in the cytosol of both cell types, but did not alter the Hsp70 membrane status. Despite increased cytosolic levels of Hsp70 and Hsp27, NVP-AUY922 exhibited a radiosensitizing effect which was even more pronounced in LDH^{-/-} cells with a lower membrane Hsp70 positivity. These data suggest that the membrane Hsp70 status and not the cytosolic amount of HSPs determines the radiosensitizing potential of NVP-AUY922. In conclusion, targeting lactate metabolism of tumor cells might provide a promising strategy to improve the success of radiation therapy in cancer patients by impairing the stress response.

Zusammenfassung

Therapieresistenz (wie zum Beispiel Strahlenresistenz) von Krebszellen kann durch eine erhöhte Laktatdehydrogenase (LDH)-Aktivität, erhöhte Konzentrationen des Onkometaboliten Laktat und eine Überexpression von anti-apoptotisch wirkenden Hitzeschockproteinen verursacht werden. In meiner Promotion habe ich mir die Frage gestellt, inwieweit Therapieresistenz (z.B. Strahlenresistenz) durch einen Eingriff in den Laktatmetabolismus der Krebszellen überwunden werden kann. Meine Daten zeigten, dass der Laktatstoffwechsel und die Hitzeschockantwort in zwei Tumorzellsystemen (murines B16F10-Melanom und humanes verschiedenen LS174T-Kolorektal-Adenokarzinom) co-reguliert sind. Ein CRISPR/Cas9-induzierter Doppel-Knockout von *LDHA/B* (LDH^{-/-}) sowie eine pharmakologische Hemmung von LDH durch das Pyruvat Analogon Oxamat reduzierte das Tumorzellwachstum, die Produktion von reaktiven Sauerstoffspezies und die Synthese verschiedener Hitzeschockproteinen, einschließlich Hsp90, Hsp70 und Hsp27. Darüber hinaus wiesen die LDHA/B knockout Zellen einen veränderten Lipidstoffwechsel auf, was zu einer verminderten Expression des tumorspezifischen Glykosphingolipids Globotriaosylceramid (Gb3) führte, das für die Verankerung von Hsp70 in der Plasmamembran von Tumorzellen verantwortlich ist. Als Folge einer reduzierten Gb3 Expression war auch die Hsp70-Membranpositivität von Tumorzellen nach Hemmung der LDH-Aktivität signifikant vermindert. Funktional führte eine LDH Inhibition und die damit verbundene Beeinträchtigung der Hitzeschockantwort zu einer erhöhten Strahlenempfindlichkeit der Tumorzellen. Um den Einfluss des Hsp70-induzierenden Hsp90 Inhibitors NVP-AUY922 auf den Laktatmetabolismus zu untersuchen, wurden Wildtyp (WT) und LDH^{-/-} Zellen mit einer subletalen Konzentration von NVP-AUY922 behandelt. Wie erwartet führte die Behandlung zu einer erhöhten zytosolischen Expression von Hsp70 und Hsp27, die Hsp70 Membran-Expression blieb jedoch unverändert. Trotz erhöhter zytosolischer Hsp70 und Hsp27 Konzentrationen zeigte NVP-AUY922 eine radiosensitivierende Wirkung in beiden Zelltypen, die in LDH^{-/-} Zellen noch signifikant stärker ausgeprägt war. Diese Daten weisen darauf hin, dass NVP-AUY922 radiosensibilisierende das Potenzial von von der Hsp70-Membranpositivität und nicht von der zytosolischen Expression von Hitzeschockproteinen bestimmt wird. Zusammenfassend lässt sich sagen, dass eine gezielte Beeinflussung des Laktatstoffwechsels von Tumorzellen über eine

Beeinträchtigung der Stressantwort (insbesondere der Hsp70 Membranexpression) die Strahlensensitivität von Tumorzellen positiv beeinflussen kann.

1 Introduction

1.1 Cancer Metabolism

Cancer is a heterogenous group of diseases that includes more than 100 different types (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000). In 2020, nearly 20 million new cancer cases were diagnosed with almost 10 million cancer deaths worldwide. The global cancer burden is expected to continue to rise in the coming years due to an increased life expectancy (Sung et al., 2021). Considerable research efforts have been undertaken to determine the underlying mechanisms of transformation in cancer development. Six hallmarks of cancer have been proposed (Figure 1) providing a solid basis for the understanding of the biology of cancer development. These hallmarks comprise a sustaining proliferative signaling, evading growth suppressors, activating invasion and metastasis, enabling replicative immortality, inducing angiogenesis and resisting cell death (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000). A decade after publication of the initial hallmarks of cancers, progress in technology and cancer research led Hanahan and Weinberg to add reprogramming of energy metabolism and evading immune destruction as two additional emerging hallmarks (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011).



Figure 1: The six hallmarks of cancer (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011).

Already a century ago, the German biochemist Otto Warburg and his colleagues discovered that cancer cells in contrast to normal cells use glycolysis for adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production even in the presence of oxygen (Figure 2). This elevated glycolytic activity, which is associated with an increased lactate production and release, is known as the Warburg effect or aerobic glycolysis (Pavlova & Thompson, 2016; Warburg, 1956a; Warburg et al., 1927). Warburg originally suggested that the aerobic glycolysis in cancer cells is due to a defect in the mitochondrial respiration (Warburg, 1956b). However, later investigations demonstrated that the function of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) is not impaired in most cancer types (Vaupel & Multhoff, 2021). Therefore, it remains unclear why cancer cells favor the much less energy efficient process of aerobic alycolysis over OXPHOS (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Energy generation in normal and cancer cells. (**A**) In the presence of O_2 (oxidative phosphorylation), normal cells produce up to 38 mol adenosine triphosphate (ATP) per mol glucose through glycolysis, tricarboxylic acid cycle (TCA), and electron transport chain while only 2 mol ATP are formed under anaerobic conditions. (**B**) Cancer cells exclusively use the glycolysis pathway independent of the level of oxygen (adapted from (Kim & Baek, 2021)). Glut, glucose transporter; LDHA, Lactate dehydrogenase A; MCT, monocarboxylate transporter.

Only 2 ATPs instead of up to 38 ATPs are produced from one glucose molecule during aerobic glycolysis (Kim & Baek, 2021). However, the speed of generating ATP by glycolysis is approximately 100 times faster than by OXPHOS. Due to their highly increased ATP demand, cancer cells may switch to aerobic glycolysis because ATP production can only be moderately increased by mitochondrial respiration (Vaupel & Multhoff, 2021). Another explanation might be that intermediates of the glycolytic pathway are required for the biosynthesis of macromolecules like nucleotides, amino acids and lipids which are essential for accelerated cell division (Figure 3, (Lunt & Vander Heiden, 2011)).



Figure 3: Relationships between energy metabolism and anabolism of macromolecules. In proliferating cells, glycolysis is typically enhanced, generating glycolytic intermediates and other energy metabolites required for the biosynthesis of macromolecules such as nucleotides (red), amino acids (blue), lipids (purple) and small groups used for epigenetic modification (green). In addition to glucose, glutamine is also increasingly taken up by proliferating cells (Wackerhage et al., 2022). ATP, adenosine triphosphate; CTP, cytosine triphosphate; DNA, deoxyribonucleic acid; GTP, guanosine triphosphate; P, phosphate; *Phgdh*, phosphoglycerate dehydrogenase; *Pkm1/2*, pyruvate kinase muscle isoforms 1 and 2; RNA, ribonucleic acid, TTP, thymine triphosphate; UTP, uracil triphosphate.

In addition, the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) is reduced when cells shift their metabolism from OXPHOS to aerobic glycolysis, promoting cell survival (Vaupel & Multhoff, 2021). Furthermore, secretion of high lactate levels acidifies the tumor microenvironment which in turn supports tumor growth (Hirschhaeuser et al., 2011), survival and the invasive capacity of tumor cells and suppresses the effector cell function of T and natural killer (NK) cells (Bohn et al., 2018; Brand et al., 2016; Lunt & Vander Heiden, 2011; Siska et al., 2020). Additionally, immunosuppressive cells like regulatory T (T_{reg}) cells show a high metabolic flexibility and can use lactic acid as an alternative fuel. Therefore, high lactate levels in the tumor microenvironment can support the immunosuppressive function of T_{reg} cells (Angelin et al., 2017; Watson et al., 2021).

The key metabolic enzymes of the aerobic glycolysis are the lactate dehydrogenases (LDHs), which catalyze the reversible conversion of pyruvate and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide hydride (NADH) to lactate and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD⁺) and *vice versa*. There are five LDH isomeric forms (LDH1-5), assembled by two different types of subunits, named muscle and heart, depending on their original location and encoded by the *LDHA* and *LDHB* genes, respectively (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) genes, subunits and enzyme oligomers. Two LDH genes (*LDHA* and *B*) provide the subunits for five LDH enzyme variants (LDH1-5) (adapted from (Urbanska & Orzechowski, 2019)).

LDH1-5 differ in their tissue distribution (Farhana & Lappin, 2022; Markert & Moller, 1959; Perez-Tomas & Perez-Guillen, 2020). In the cancer metabolism, LDH5 and LDH1 also termed as LDHA and LDHB, respectively, are of particular interest due to their overexpression in many tumor cells. LDHA composed of four LDHA subunits preferentially supports the pyruvate reduction to lactate during glycolysis (Figure 4, (Perez-Tomas & Perez-Guillen, 2020; Zdralevic et al., 2017)).

Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) (Semenza et al., 1996), c-Myc (Shim et al., 1997) and micro-RNA (miRNA) miR-34a (Kaller et al., 2011) are known regulators of LDHA expression. Already in 1964 it could be demonstrated that many human cancers have higher LDHA levels than normal tissues (Goldman et al., 1964). High lactate levels in human cervical patients have been shown to correlate with an increased risk of developing metastases, tumor recurrence, and poorer disease-free and overall survival (Walenta et al., 2000). In addition, patients with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) bearing overexpression of LDHA have a poor prognosis (Koukourakis et al., 2003). Downregulation of LDHA by small interfering RNA (siRNA) or by the LDH inhibitor FX11 inhibited tumor progression in preclinical tumor models (Le et al., 2010). Knockdown of LDHA in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and pancreatic cancer cells reduced cell growth and cell migration in vitro as well as tumorigenesis in vivo (Rong et al., 2013; Yao et al., 2013). In addition to LDHA, LDHB also plays an important role in tumor progression. LDHB oxidizes lactate to pyruvate, coupled with NADH formation (Zdralevic et al., 2017). Depletion of LDHB can inhibit cell proliferation in lung cancer cell lines (McCleland et al., 2013), triple-negative breast cancer cells (McCleland et al., 2012) and in osteosarcoma cells (Li et al., 2016). Furthermore, high LDHB levels in patients are linked to poorer prognosis and decreased overall survival (Li et al., 2016; McCleland et al., 2013; McCleland et al., 2012; Sun et al., 2015). Elevated serum LDH is negatively associated with clinical efficacy of anticancer therapies including radiotherapy (de la Cruz-Lopez et al., 2019; Dimopoulos et al., 1991; Forkasiewicz et al., 2020; Hirschhaeuser et al., 2011). Therefore, there is great interest in developing drugs, which reduce either the level of LDH or other molecules involved in lactate metabolism to improve anti-cancer therapy and patient survival. Although promising results were obtained with the LDH inhibitors oxamate (Li et al., 2013; Manerba et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2014), FX11 (Le et al., 2010; Xian et al., 2015), and GNE-140 (Boudreau et al., 2016; Zdralevic et al., 2018) in preclinical models, the

currently available substances are not suitable for clinical use due to unfavorable offtargets effects and a poor bioavailability (Feichtinger & Lang, 2019).

An association between the glucose/lactate metabolism and the cellular stress response has been previously described for the human HeLa cervical cancer cell line. Cells overexpressing heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) altered their energy metabolism by increasing aerobic glycolysis (Wang et al., 2012). Furthermore, immature boar Sertoli cells showed an upregulation of Hsp70, glucose transporter 3 (GLUT3), and lactate production upon mild heat stress, thereby improving spermatogenesis and male fertility in boars (Guan et al., 2018). In addition, reduction of LDHA activity by the LDH inhibitors galloflavin and oxamate resulted in decreased expression of Hsp90, Hsp70, and Hsp27 in hepatocellular carcinoma cells (Manerba et al., 2017). *Vice versa*, overexpression of HSPA12A, a distant member of the HSP70 protein family, led to an enhanced lactate export and glycolytic activity in hepatocellular carcinoma cells by promoting membrane localization of the monocarboxylate transporter 4 (MCT4) (Min et al., 2022). These are first indications for a potential link between the lactate metabolism and the stress response.

1.2 Heat shock response

The heat shock response (HSR) is a mechanism which includes an increased synthesis of molecular chaperones like heat shock proteins (HSPs) to prevent toxic effects on proteins caused by physical or biological stressors such as increased temperatures, heavy metals, toxins, oxidative stress and infections by bacteria or viruses (Morimoto, 1993). HSP genes were firstly described in the early 1960's by Ferruccio Ritossa as a set of evolutionary highly conserved genes in salivary gland cells of *Drosophila melanogaster*, which are activated upon exposure to elevated temperatures (Rittosa, 1962). HSPs are highly conserved and ubiquitously expressed in various organisms from bacteria over plants to animals (Lindquist & Craig, 1988). Based on their molecular weight, ranging from 27 to 110 kDa, and their functions HSPs are divided into five major groups (HSP27, HSP60, HSP70, HSP90 and HSP110) (Moseley, 1997). Under physiological conditions they are involved in maintaining protein homeostasis by supporting the transport, folding/unfolding and degradation of proteins (Hartl, 1996). Further, it has been shown that HSPs exhibit regulatory functions in apoptosis (Garrido et al., 2001). One of the best-studied classes of HSPs

is the HSP70 family, therefore this family will be considered in more detail in the next sections with respect to its structure, regulation, function and role in cancer and immunity.

1.2.1 Structure of Hsp70

The highly conserved Hsp70 molecules consist of a 44 kDa amino (N)-terminal nucleotide binding domain (NBD) containing the adenosine triphosphatase (ATPase) domain, which binds and hydrolyzes ATP, a hydrophobic linker region, and a 28 kDa carboxy (C)-terminal substrate binding domain (SBD) (Figure 5, (Bertelsen et al., 2009; Flaherty et al., 1990; Radons, 2016)). Eukaryotic cytosolic but not endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-located or mitochondrial Hsp70 possess a C-terminal EEVD domain mediating binding of co-chaperones and other HSPs (Hartl, 1996; Radons, 2016).



Figure 5: Schematic representation of the common domain structures of the human Hsp70 chaperone (Radons, 2016).

Hsp70 is constitutively expressed and found within nearly all major subcellular compartments (Tavaria, Gabriele et al. 1996) like the nucleus, the cytosol, the mitochondria, the ER and lysosomes (Daugaard, Rohde et al. 2007, Radons 2016). Furthermore, they are present on the plasma membrane of virally infected cells (Di Cesare, Poccia et al. 1992) and tumor cells (Multhoff, Botzler et al. 1995) as well as in the extracellular milieu (Pockley, Henderson et al. 2014).

The human HSP70 family consists of 13 gene products that differ in terms of their expression level, subcellular localization, and amino acid composition (Radons 2016). They are encoded by a multigene family consisting of 47 hsp70 sequences, 17 genes and 30 pseudogenes (Brocchieri, Conway de Macario et al. 2008). There are two main representatives of the HSP70 family: the major stress-inducible Hsp70 and the cognitive heat shock protein 70 (Hsc70). They are found in all nucleated eukaryotic cells and show a high sequence homology of 86% (Daugaard, Rohde et al. 2007). The

7

major stress-inducible Hsp70s, Hsp70-1 (HSPA1A) and Hsp70-2 (HSPA1B), collectively named Hsp70 or Hsp70-1, differ by only two amino acids. The basal messenger RNA (mRNA) expression of HSPA1A/B is variable in most tissues and shows the highest expression levels of all Hsp70 isoforms in humans (Daugaard, Rohde et al. 2007, Radons 2016). Hsp70 has been found to be upregulated following a series of stress stimuli, and is thought to play an important role in protecting cells from lethal damage and maintaining cell survival (Daugaard, Rohde et al. 2007, Murphy 2013). In contrast, Hsc70 is constitutively expressed in all cells at a low level and is not stress inducible. Therefore, it is responsible for the housekeeping functions of the HSP70 family and plays an important role in the chaperone-mediated autophagy (Murphy 2013).

1.2.2 Regulation of Hsp70

The HSR is regulated, in addition to altered mRNA stability, mainly at the transcriptional level by different heat shock factors (HSFs) (Shamovsky & Nudler, 2008). Six heat shock transcription factors are known in the human genome: HSF1, HSF2, HSF4, HSF5, HSFX and HSFY (Gomez-Pastor et al., 2018). HSF1 is ubiguitously expressed and considered as the major transcription factor for the stressinduced expression of major HSPs (Jolly & Morimoto, 2000). HSF1 is activated in response to a variety of physiological and environmental stressors, whereas HSF2 activity appears to be more selective and is induced upon inhibition of the ubiquitinproteasome, during differentiation and early development. HSF4 is important for growth and differentiation during the development of the eye lens (Gomez-Pastor et al., 2018; Jolly & Morimoto, 2000). HSF5 has only been validated in humans at the transcriptional level. HSFX, located on the X chromosome, has not yet been studied in detail with respect to its function. HSFY located on the Y chromosome is mainly expressed in the testis and contributes to male fertility (Gomez-Pastor et al., 2018). Under physiological, non-stressed conditions, HSF1 is located in the cytoplasm predominantly as an inactive monomer complexed with regulatory proteins including Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp40 (Gomez-Pastor et al., 2018; Murphy, 2013). After stress stimuli, inhibitory proteins are separated from the complex and HSF1 forms a homotrimer with the ability to translocate into the nucleus. Its DNA binding capacity

and transcriptional activity can be modulated by posttranscriptional modifications such

as stress-dependent phosphorylation mediated by kinases including the mammalian

target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) kinase (Gomez-Pastor et al., 2018; Morimoto, 1993; Murphy, 2013). In the nucleus HSF1 binds to the heat shock element (HSE) upstream of the HSP promotor and thereby facilitates HSP transcription by promoting RNA polymerase II escape from the paused pre-initiation complex and starting elongation (Figure 6, (Murphy, 2013; Radons, 2016)). When a sufficient amount of HSPs is synthesized and binding to all non-native proteins is saturated after cell stress, excess HSPs bind to the HSF trimers. This results in a dissociation and return of HSF1 to its inactive, monomeric form and thereby further synthesis of HSPs is stopped (Shamovsky & Nudler, 2008). The heat shock factor binding protein 1 (HSBP1) can bind to both, trimeric state of HSF1 and Hsp70, resulting in a negative regulation of the heat shock response (Morimoto, 1998). The Hsp70 expression levels are also regulated by miRNAs at the posttranscriptional level which is essential in transformation, differentiation and proliferation (Radons, 2016).



Figure 6: Heat shock factor 1 (HSF1) activation cycle. Under non-stressed conditions, HSF1 is located in its monomeric, inactive form in the cytoplasm and remains repressed by regulatory proteins including Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp40. After stress e.g. heat shock, HSF1 is activated, trimerize, translocate to the nucleus and its DNA binding capacity is mediated by phosphorylation (P). HSF1 binds to the heat shock element (HSE) and thereby enabling the transcription of heat shock proteins (HSPs) (Trepel et al., 2010).

1.2.3 Functions of Hsp70

Originally, molecular chaperones were described as a group of proteins mediating the correct assembly of other proteins without being part of the final functional assemblies. More recently, chaperones have been defined as proteins that bind and stabilize other proteins. Through selective binding and release, they enable the proteins to fold correctly, be transported to a specific subcellular compartment inside the cell, or be removed by degradation (Hartl, 1996).

The best known functions of Hsp70 is to support the folding of nascent polypeptides exiting the ribosome or stress-denatured proteins (Ambrose & Chapman, 2021), prevention of protein aggregation, solubilization and refolding of aggregated proteins (Mayer & Bukau, 2005), disassembly of protein complexes and the regulation of protein activity (Rosenzweig et al., 2019). Chaperones recognize hydrophobic residues and/or unstructured backbones of stable misfolded or aggregated proteins and ensure their unfolding and correct refolding. The folding process is mediated by chaperones through repeated cycles of substrate binding and release, which are controlled by their ATPase activity and by cofactors (Hartl & Hayer-Hartl, 2002; Radons, 2016). Unfolded or non-native polypeptides are recognized by Hsp40, a member of the J-domain proteins (JDPs), and transferred to Hsp70 to prevent aggregation. The hydrolysis of ATP to adenosine diphosphate (ADP) and the associated conformational change that closes the substrate binding groove is stimulated by the interaction of Hsp40 with the N-terminal ATPase domain of Hsp70. In the ADP-bound state, Hsp70 exhibit high substrate affinity and low substrate exchange rate. The Hsp70 interacting protein (HIP) stabilizes this conformation by binding to the NBD of Hsp70 and thereby prevents ADP dissociation. The stress-inducible protein 1 (STI1 or Hop) binds to the C-terminal domain of Hsp70 and Hsp90 thus passing client proteins to Hsp90. STI1 is responsible for the association of other chaperones. Interaction of nucleotide exchange factors (NEFs) like Bcl-2-associated athanogene (BAG) domain proteins and Hsp70 binding protein 1 (HSPBP1) with the Hsp70 ATPase domain results in the release of ADP and a conformational change leading to a low substrate affinity and finally to the release of the substrate. The released polypeptide can either be folded into its native state or bound back to Hsp70 (Fernandez-Fernandez et al., 2017; Radons, 2016). The activity of Hsp70 is connected to proteolysis via the C-terminal Hsp70-interacting protein (CHIP). CHIP inhibits the ATPase activity of cytosolic Hsp70 by inhibiting HSP70mediated protein folding, and through its function as E3-ubiquitin ligase, it can ubiquitinate proteins, leading to their degradation by the proteasome (Mayer & Bukau, 2005; Radons, 2016).

The transport of proteins to their target organelles is another important function of Hsp70 in eukaryotes. For the mitochondrial and the ER transport, proteins are tagged with N-terminal leader peptide sequences and the proteins must be kept in an unfolded state until they reach their appropriate compartment. Once the unfolded polypeptides have started to cross the membrane of their target organelle, Hsp70 binds to the entering polypeptides to support translocation of the peptides into the organelle by an entropic force (Ambrose & Chapman, 2021).

In addition to its role in maintaining protein homeostasis, Hsp70 is also involved in the cellular processes of senescence and autophagy (Radons, 2016). Cellular senescence is a stable arrest of the cell cycle that is initiated in response to various stress factors like oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, irradiation or chemotherapeutic drugs (Herranz & Gil, 2018). Downregulation of Hsp70 by siRNA in cancer cells caused senescence, activated and stabilized tumor protein p53 by destabilizing the p53 inhibitor Hdm2. Furthermore, the cell cycle kinase Cdc2 is phosphorylated and thereby inhibited (Yaglom et al., 2007). Autophagy is an intracellular pathway for degradation of proteins and is important for the cellular energy supply during development and nutrient stress. Furthermore, it is involved in the removal of misfolded or aggregated proteins, damaged organelles or intracellular pathogens in autophagic structures (Glick et al., 2010). One of the three main types of autophagy is chaperone-dependent. Cytosolic proteins with a specific sequence motif are recognized by chaperones and following binding to lysosomal-associated membrane protein 2A (LAMP2A) the proteins are unfolded and degraded in the lysosomes (Dokladny et al., 2015).

Moreover, Hsp70 is an important anti-apoptotic protein, which interferes with apoptotic pathways at different levels. These pathways can be activated either intrinsically with a mitochondrial involvement and the formation of the apoptosome, or extrinsically with involvement of tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-family receptors. Hsp70 can inhibit the formation of the apoptosome by interacting with apoptosis protease-activating factor 1 (Apaf-1) (Takayama et al., 2003). In addition, Hsp70 prevents mitochondrial membrane permeabilization and the secretion of pro-apoptotic factors by inhibiting the mitochondrial translocation and activation of Bcl-associated X protein (Bax). Other components of apoptotic pathways that are affected by Hsp70 are caspase-3, c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38 MAPK),

extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), and the mitochondrial intermembrane flavoprotein apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF). Hsp70 together with the E3 ubiquitin ligase CHIP support the proteasomal degradation of the apoptosis signal-regulated kinase 1 (Ask-1) and a complex consisting of these three proteins prevents apoptosis. In the nucleus, Hsp70 can bind to poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase 1 (PARP1) and thereby promote the single-strand DNA break repair machinery (Radons, 2016).

1.2.4 The role of Hsp70 in cancer and immunology

In many different tumor entities, including melanoma and colorectal carcinoma, HSPs are overexpressed which results in poorer prognosis and therapy resistance (Ciocca & Calderwood, 2005). Hsp70 is involved in several hallmarks of cancers (Albakova et al., 2020), which were described in Figure 1.

High levels of Hsp70 impairs apoptosis (Mosser et al., 1997) and leads to cancer progression (Ciocca & Calderwood, 2005). Vice versa, cancer cell death is induced by a downregulation of Hsp70 in human breast cancer cell lines (Nylandsted et al., 2000). Cell death can also be escaped by Hsp70-mediated stabilization of lysosomal membranes to prevent permeabilization (Nylandsted et al., 2004). Permeabilization of lysosomal membranes by the Hsp70 inhibitor apoptozole causes apoptosis in different human cancer cell lines (Park et al., 2018). Furthermore, Hsp70 protects cancer cells from necrosis by JNK inhibition (Yaglom et al., 2003). Depending on its localization (intra/extracellular) Hsp70 can fulfill different functions. On the one hand, necrotic cells can release Hsp70 as a free molecule, which can act as a damage-associated molecular pattern (DAMP) triggering antitumoral immune responses. On the other hand, cytosolic Hsp70 prevents necrotic cell death in cancer cells and thereby supports tumor progression (Albakova et al., 2020). By regulating p53 and cell cycle kinase Cdc2, Hsp70 can downregulate also cancer cell senescence (Yaglom et al., 2007). Besides its roles in preventing cancer cell death, Hsp70 is also involved in angiogenesis (Albakova et al., 2020; Park et al., 2017), invasiveness (Teng et al., 2012), and metastasis of cancer cells (Kluger et al., 2005).

In contrast to normal cells, a large number of cancer cells not only overexpress Hsp70 in the cytosol (Ciocca & Calderwood, 2005), but also present it on their plasma membrane (Multhoff et al., 1995) and actively release it in exosomes (Gastpar et al., 2005). This tumor specific membrane localization of Hsp70 is enabled by a spontaneous interaction of Hsp70 with negatively charged glycosphingolipids including sulfogalactosyl ceramide (Mamelak et al., 2001) and globotriaosylceramide (Gb3) (Gehrmann et al., 2008) which are compounds of cholesterol-rich microdomains also termed as lipid rafts (Horvath et al., 2008). It is assumed that Hsp70 trafficking to the cell membrane and its exosomal export is mediated via a non-classical vesicular pathway, since inhibitors of the ER/Golgi pathway such as brefeldin A or monensin do not affect the membrane transport and release of Hsp70 (Bausero et al., 2005). Under stress conditions like irradiation (Fellinger et al., 2020; Gehrmann et al., 2005; Murakami et al., 2015) or treatment with tubulin-interacting chemotherapeutics like vincristine and paclitaxel (Gehrmann et al., 2002) the density of Hsp70 on the plasma membrane of cancer cells but not on normal cells can be upregulated.

As mentioned before, Hsp70 is not only located in the cytosol but can also be found in the extracellular milieu (Pockley et al., 2014) or on the cell membrane of tumor cells (Multhoff et al., 1995) where it mediates a number of immunomodulatory effects on both, the innate and adaptive immune system (Albakova et al., 2020). Two types of Hsp70 are found in the circulation of cancer patients. On the one hand, viable cancer cells release Hsp70 in extracellular vesicles with biophysical properties of exosomes, and on the other hand, dying cells can release Hsp70 as a free molecule, which can serve as a DAMP (Albakova et al., 2020).

Hsp70 released from necrotic cells can trigger a strong T cell response (Albakova et al., 2020; Breloer et al., 1999), whereas immune tolerance is induced when immune cells are exposed to high amounts of free Hsp70 for a long period of time (i.e. after radiation) and thereby promotes tumor progression (Rothammer et al., 2019). In addition, low doses of an Hsp70 peptide have been shown to induce antitumor immunity (Blachere et al., 1997). Therefore, it can be assumed that the endogenously released Hsp70 from cancer cells initially has a tumor suppressive effect, but in larger amounts may contribute to tumor progression (Albakova et al., 2020).

Not only extracellular Hsp70 modulates immunomodulatory effects, plasma membrane bound Hsp70 can serve as a target structure for pre-stimulated NK cells. An incubation of NK cells with low dose interleukin-2 (IL-2) and Hsp70 protein or a 14-mer Hsp70 peptide (TKD) derived from the oligomerization domain of Hsp70 for 3-5 days stimulates their proliferative as well as their cytolytic activity towards tumor cells which express Hsp70 on their plasma membrane (Multhoff et al., 2001). Only CD3⁻/CD56⁺ NK cells, but not CD3⁺ T cells, are activated by a stimulation with TKD/IL-2. Stimulation of NK cells is associated with increased cell surface density of the cell surface receptors CD94, CD56 and CD69 (Gastpar et al., 2005; Gross, Schmidt-Wolf, et al., 2003). Tumor cell killing occurs via a perforin-independent granzyme B (GrB)-mediated apoptosis pathway (Gross, Koelch, et al., 2003). A phase I clinical trial in patients with colorectal or lung cancer (Krause et al., 2004) as well as a phase II clinical trial with NSCLC patients (Multhoff et al., 2020) showed safety and therapeutic potential of *ex vivo* Hsp70-activated, autologous NK cells in human patients. Another mechanism how extracellular Hsp70 interact with the innate immune system is the formation of a complex with Tag7. Permeabilization of lysosomal membranes and consecutively cell death is mediated by the interaction of the Tag7-Hsp70 complex with tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 (TNFR1) (Albakova et al., 2020; Yashin et al., 2016). In addition, Hsp70 can stimulate the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α) after binding to the toll-like receptors (TLR)-2 and -4 via the MyD88/NF- κ B transduction pathway (Asea et al., 2000; Asea et al., 2002).

1.2.5 Heat shock proteins and cancer treatment

Cancer cells often overexpress HSPs in the cytosol which is associated with treatment resistance and poorer prognosis (Ciocca & Calderwood, 2005). Therefore, intensive research is being conducted on therapies that target the HSR in cancer cells either by HSPs-targeting immunotherapies or by modulating the expression and/or activity of HSPs. Besides the already mentioned autologous NK cells therapy which showed positive clinical response in a phase II clinical trial with NSCLC patient after radiochemotherapy (Multhoff et al., 2020), different vaccines have been developed on the basis of HSPs (Yang et al., 2021). Various autologous cancer vaccines consisting of HSP peptide complex-96 have been tested in clinical trials for glioblastoma (Bloch et al., 2014), melanoma (Testori et al., 2008) and renal cell carcinoma patients (Wood et al., 2008).

In recent years, several inhibitors have been developed for various HSPs including Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27. However, despite promising preclinical data, none of the inhibitors has yet been approved in clinical practice (Yang et al., 2021). One promising Hsp90 inhibitor is NVP-AUY922, which is a resorcinylic isoazole amide. It showed negative effects on tumor cell proliferation and viability *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Brough et al., 2008; Eccles et al., 2008). Therefore, NVP-AUY922 was used in a phase I/II clinical trial for NSCLC, breast, colorectal and advanced gastric cancer (Soga et al., 2013).

However, its adverse side effects including hepatotoxicity, poor water solubility, and a compensatory upregulated expression of anti-apoptotic HSPs like Hsp70 limits its broader clinical application. Therefore, combination therapies using inhibitors targeting different HSPs or combining HSPs inhibitors at lower concentrations with conventional therapies like chemo- or radiotherapy are recently under investigation, although clinical data are still missing (Jego et al., 2013; Kijima et al., 2018; Kinzel et al., 2016; Sanchez et al., 2020; Soga et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2021). Therefore, there remains a great medical need for further research into inhibitors of the heat shock response in cancer cells to break resistance to therapy.

1.3 Aim of the study

More than 50% of all solid tumors are treated with radiation therapy, although its therapeutical success is limited by normal tissue toxicity and radioresistance of the cancer cells. Radioresistance of cancer cells can be caused by an increased LDH activity, associated with elevated levels of the oncometabolite lactate, and overexpression of anti-apoptotic HSPs. A potential mechanistic link between the pro-tumorigenic lactate metabolism and the anti-apoptotic stress response in tumor cells is not well understood.

Therefore, in this study I investigated the co-regulation of LDH and the heat shock response with respect to radiation resistance in two different cancer cell systems (murine melanoma B16F10 and human colorectal carcinoma LS174T). LDH inhibition was performed either genetically by an *LDHA/B* double knockout or pharmacologically by the treatment with the pyruvate analog oxamate. Furthermore, I analyzed the mechanism by which the radiosensitizing potential of the Hsp90 inhibitor NVP-AUY922 is mediated in cancer cells with an impaired lactate metabolism. The overall aim was to radiosensitize cancer cells by targeting different pathways of the cancer metabolism.

2 Materials and methods

Cells and cell culture

The human mouse B16F10 wild type (WT) melanoma cell line (ATCC® CRL-6475) and *LDHA/B* double knockout cell line (LDH^{-/-}) - kindly provided by Marina Kreutz and Jacques Pouyssegur (Zdralevic et al., 2018) - were cultured in Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI)-1640 Medium (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA). The human LS174T colorectal adenocarcinoma cell line (ATCC® CL-188[™]) WT and LDH^{-/-} - kindly provided by Marina Kreutz and Jacques Pouyssegur (Zdralevic et al., 2018) - were cultured in high glucose Dulbecco`s Eagle`s Minimum Essential Medium (DMEM) (Sigma-Aldrich). All media were supplemented with 10% v/v heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Sigma-Aldrich), 1% antibiotics (10,000 IU/ml penicillin, 10 mg/ml streptomycin, Sigma-Aldrich), 2 mM L-glutamine (Sigma-Aldrich) and 1 mM sodium pyruvate (Sigma-Aldrich). Cells were routinely checked and confirmed negative for mycoplasma contamination using the MycoAlert[™] Mycoplasma Detection Kit (Lonza, Rockland, ME, USA).

Reagents and treatment

The pyruvate analog sodium oxamate (Santa Cruz, Dallas, TX, USA), was dissolved in the relevant cell culture medium in which the cells were grown and tumor cells were incubated with a sublethal concentration of oxamate (60 mM) for 48 h. Sodium lactate (NaLac) (Sigma-Aldrich) was dissolved in H₂O and 100 mM sodium pyruvate solution was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Cells were incubated with 15 mM NaLac or 15 mM pyruvate for 6 h. A stock solution (10 mM) of the Hsp90 inhibitor NVP-AUY922 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, USA) was prepared in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, Sigma-Aldrich) and further diluted in phosphate buffered saline (PBS). Cells were treated with the indicated doses of NVP-AUY922 for 24 h. Control cells were incubated with the respective amounts of diluents, media or DMSO, as appropriate.

Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity measurement

LDH activity was determined using the Lactate Dehydrogenase Activity kit (Sigma-Aldrich) following the manufacturer's protocol.

Western blot analysis

Cells were lysed in radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCI (pH 8.0), 150 mM NaCI, 1 mM ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA), 1% v/v Triton-X-100, 0.1% w/v sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS), 0.5% w/v sodium deoxycholate, protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, Basel, Switzerland). The protein content in the cell lysates was determined using the BCA[™] Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE, transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes and detected by immunoblotting using the following primary and secondary antibodies: anti-HSF1 (ADI-SPA-901-D, Enzo Life Sciences, Farmingdale, NY, USA), anti-HSF1 phospho S326 (ab76076, Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA), anti-Hsp27 (NBP2-32972, Novus Biologicals, Centennial, CO, USA), anti-Hsp70 (cmHsp70.1, immunoglobulin G (IgG)1, multimmune GmbH, Munich, Germany), anti-Hsp90 (4874, Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA), anti-AKT (9272S, Cell Signaling Technology), anti-LDHA (NBP1-48336, Novus Biologicals, Centennial, CO, USA), anti-LDHB (NBP2-53421, Novus Biologicals, Centennial, CO, USA), anti-ß-Actin (A2228, Sigma-Aldrich), horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated rabbit anti-mouse immunoglobulins (P0260, Dako-Agilent, Santa Clara, CA, USA) and HRP-conjugated swine anti-rabbit immunoglobulins (P0217, Dako-Agilent). Immune complexes were detected using the Pierce[™] enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) Western Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and imaged digitally (ChemiDoc[™] Touch Imaging System, Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). Fiji software (Schindelin et al., 2012) was used for quantification of the Western blot signals.

Flow cytometry

Single cell suspensions of the tumor cells were collected. Viable cells (0.2 x 10⁶ cells) were washed once with flow cytometry buffer (10% FBS in PBS) and incubated either with a fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-conjugated mouse monoclonal antibody (mAb) specific for membrane bound Hsp70 (cmHsp70.1, IgG1, multimmune GmbH, Munich, Germany) or an isotype matched FITC-labeled control antibody (IgG1, FITC, 345815, BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany) on ice in the dark for 30 min. Dead cells were stained with propidium iodide (0.2 µg/mL, Sigma-Aldrich) and only viable cells were analyzed on a FACSCalibur™ flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). Fluorescence data were plotted by using the CellQuest software (Becton Dickinson, Heidelberg, Germany).

For analyzing the expression of monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1) by flow cytometry LS174T cells were permeabilized with 70% v/v methanol and stained using the allophycocyanin (APC)-conjugated human MCT1/SLC16A1 monoclonal antibody (mAb, IgG2A, R&D systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) or an isotype matched APC-labeled control antibody (mouse IgG2A, Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA, USA).

Dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (DCFDA) assay for measuring reactive oxygen species (ROS)

The DCFDA Cellular ROS Detection Assay Kit (Abcam) was used to determine intracellular levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Fluorescence signals were measured on a VICTOR Multilabel plate reader (PerkinElmer, Waltham, MA, USA) with 485/535 nm excitation/emission filters. The average relative fluorescence signal of WT cells was set to 1 and that of LDH^{-/-} cells calculated proportionally.

Cell counting Kit-8

Cell viability and cell proliferation was measured using a Sigma-Aldrich Cell Counting Kit-8 (CCK-8) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

Immunocytochemistry

LS174T cells were grown on poly-L-lysine-coated glass slides. After blocking with 5% w/v bovine serum albumin (BSA) in PBS, cells were co-stained with FITC-labeled cmHsp70.1 mAb (multimmune GmbH) and phycoerythrin (PE)-labeled CD77 (Gb3) mAb (563631, BD Biosciences) on ice for 20 min. After a washing step with ice-cold PBS, cells were fixed in 0.5% w/v paraformaldehyde in PBS. Nuclei were counter-stained with Hoechst 33342 (H3570, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). A Leica TCS SP8 confocal microscope were used to take fluorescence images.

Measurement of extracellular Hsp70 levels

Extracellular Hsp70 levels in the supernatant of LS174T cells were determined by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (R&D systems) following the manufacturer's recommendations. The measured values of extracellular Hsp70 were normalized to 1×10^6 viable tumor cells.

Irradiation

Tumor cells were irradiated with the indicated doses using the CellRad compact benchtop X-ray irradiator (Precision X-Ray, North Branford, CT, USA) at a dose rate of 1 Gy/min (5 mA, 130 kV) or using the Gulmay RS225A device (Gulmay Medical Ltd., Camberley, UK) at a dose rate of 1.1 Gy/min (15 mA, 200 kV).

Analysis of cell survival using the clonogenic assay

Tumor cells were seeded into 12-well plates, treated with 5 nM NVP-AUY922 (24 h) or 60 mM oxamate (48 h) and irradiated with the indicated doses. After irradiation, cells were washed and incubated in drug-free medium. After 5-10 days, plates were washed with PBS, fixed with ice-cold methanol and colonies were stained with 0.1% w/v crystal violet. The number of colonies (≥ 50 cells) was measured automatically in a Bioreader® 3000 (Bio-Sys GmbH, Karben, Germany). Survival curves were fitted to the linear quadratic model using SigmaPlot (Systat Software Inc, San Jose, CA, USA).

Cell cycle analysis

For cell cycle analysis, cells were fixed in 70% v/v methanol overnight at 4°C, incubated with RNAse for 15 min at 37°C, stained with propidium iodide (50 µg/mL) and analyzed using a FACSCalibur[™] flow cytometer (BD Biosciences).

Statistics

Each experiment was independently performed at least 3 times (biological replicates). The Student t-test was used to evaluate significant differences between two groups. When comparing multiple groups, the Tukey test was applied (*p \leq 0.05, **p \leq 0.01, ***p \leq 0.001). Data are presented as mean values with standard deviation (SD).

3 Summary of the included publications

3.1 Targeting Cancer Metabolism Breaks Radioresistance by Impairing the Stress Response

Cancers 2021, 13, 3762. doi:10.3390/cancers13153762

Melissa Schwab¹, Katharina Thunborg¹, Omid Azimzadeh^{2,3}, Christine von Toerne⁴, Caroline Werner¹, Maxim Shevtsov^{1,5,6}, Tommaso Di Genio¹, Masa Zdralevic⁷, Jacques Pouyssegur^{8,9}, Kathrin Renner^{10,11}, Marina Kreutz¹⁰ and Gabriele Multhoff^{1,12}

- ¹ Radiation Immuno-Oncology Group, Center for Translational Cancer Research (TranslaTUM), School of Medicine, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich (TUM), 81675 Munich, Germany.
- ² German Research Center for Environmental Health, Institute of Radiation Biology, Helmholtz Zentrum München, 85764 Neuherberg, Germany.
- ³ Section Radiation Biology, Federal Office for Radiation Protection (BfS), 85764 Neuherberg, Germany.
- ⁴ Research Unit Protein Science, Helmholtz Center Munich, German Research Center for Environmental Health, 85764 Neuherberg, Germany.
- ⁵ Institute of Cytology, Institute of Russian Academy of Sciences (RAS), 194064 St. Petersburg, Russia.
- ⁶ Department of Biotechnology, Pavlov First Saint Petersburg State Medical University, 197022 St. Petersburg, Russia.
- ⁷ Faculty of Medicine, University of Montenegro, Kruševac, 81000 Podgorica, Montenegro.
- ⁸ Institute for Research on Cancer and Aging, University Côte d'Azur, CNRS, INSERM, Centre Antoine Lacassagne, 06107 Nice, France.
- ⁹ Department of Medical Biology, Centre Scientifique de Monaco (CSM), 98000 Monaco, Monaco.
- ¹⁰ Department of Internal Medicine III, University of Regensburg, 93053 Regensburg, Germany.
- ¹¹ Center for Interventional Immunology, Department of Internal Medicine III, University of Regensburg (RCI), 93053 Regensburg, Germany.
- ¹² Department of Radiation Oncology, School of Medicine, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich (TUM), 81675 Munich, Germany.

Background: Due to their enhanced energetic demand, cancer cells shift their metabolism towards aerobic glycolysis with an increased LDH activity and elevated levels of the corresponding oncometabolite lactate. Furthermore, many cancer cell types exhibit an overexpression of HSPs and thereby promote therapy resistance. Herein, I investigated the co-regulation of the lactate metabolism and the cellular stress response with respect to radiation resistance in two cancer cells systems (B16F10 murine melanoma and LS174T human colorectal adenocarcinoma).

Principal findings: The pharmacologically inhibition of LDH activity by oxamate and GNE-140, glucose deprivation and the genetically disruption of *LDHA/B* by a CRISPR/Cas9 mediated *LDHA/B* double knockout in mouse B16F10 and human LS174T cells significantly decreased cancer cell proliferation, ROS production and the synthesis of different HSPs, including Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27, and HSF1. A *LDHA/B* double knockout resulted in an altered lipid metabolism and a downregulation of the Hsp70-anchoring, tumor-specific glycosphingolipid Gb3 on the cell surface of tumor cells. Reduced levels of Gb3, in turn, leads to a decreased membrane Hsp70 expression in WT cancer cells was upregulated by treatment with increased extracellular lactate/pyruvate concentrations. Functionally, pharmacological or genetic inhibition of LDH reduces both cytosolic and membrane-bound HSPs in cancer cells and results in a significant reduction in radioresistance associated with G₂/M arrest.

Conclusion: In summary, I have shown that targeting lactate/pyruvate metabolism significantly reduces the radioresistance of cancer cells by impairing the heat shock response. Consequently, a combination therapy of pharmacological inhibition of LDH and ionizing radiation should be used to reduce radiation doses for tumor cell killing, thus sparing normal tissue.

Own contribution to the publication:

- Conception and performance of all experiments in which LS174T WT cells were treated with oxamate, including data analysis, processing and statistical analysis. Supervision of Katharina Thunborg who performed all experiments with GNE-140.
- Conception and performance of all experiments in which LDHA/B double knockout cells were used, with the exception of proteomics analysis, ELISA measurement and fluorescence microscopy, including data analysis, processing and statistical analysis.
- Writing the first draft of the manuscript and making adjustments for the revision of the manuscript.

3.2 A Low Membrane Hsp70 Expression in Tumor Cells With Impaired Lactate Metabolism Mediates Radiosensitization by NVP-AUY922

Front. Oncol. 12:861266. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.861266

Melissa Schwab¹ and Gabriele Multhoff^{1,2}

- ¹ Radiation Immuno-Oncology Group, Center for Translational Cancer Research (TranslaTUM), School of Medicine, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich (TUM), 81675 Munich, Germany.
- ² Department of Radiation Oncology, School of Medicine, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University of Munich (TUM), 81675 Munich, Germany.

Background: Radioresistance of cancer cells is mediated by high lactate concentrations in the tumor microenvironment, and overexpression and membrane localization of heat shock proteins like the major stress-inducible Hsp70. A previous study from our laboratory showed that *LDHA/B* double knockout significantly diminished both cytosolic and membrane HSP levels, leading to radiosensitization. Herein, I analyzed the mechanism underlying the radiosensitizing effect of the Hsp90 inhibitor NVP-AUY922 in mouse B16F10 and human LS174T *LDHA/B* double knockout cancer cells.

Principal findings: *LDHA/B* double knockout cells exhibit reduced cytosolic as well as membrane HSP levels. The Hsp90 inhibitor NVP-AUY922 elevates the cytosolic expression of Hsp27 and Hsp70, while leaving membrane Hsp70 expression unaltered. Although NVP-AUY922 induces the cytosolic levels of HSPs, radioresistance was significantly reduced in WT cells and even more pronounced in LDH^{-/-} cells.

Conclusion: In summary, I demonstrated that a low membrane Hsp70 expression but not cytosolic Hsp70 levels, are responsible for the radiosensitizing potential of the Hsp90 inhibitor NVP-AUY922 in cancer cells with an impaired lactate metabolism.

Own contribution to the publication:

- Conception and performance of all experiments in this publication, including data analysis, processing and statistical analysis.
- Writing the original draft.

4 Discussion

The expression of HSPs such as Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27 is increased in many tumor cell types including colorectal carcinoma and melanoma, and promotes tumor progression and therapy resistance by protecting tumor cells from apoptosis (Ciocca & Calderwood, 2005). Furthermore, due to their fast proliferation rates (Vaupel & Multhoff, 2021), many solid tumor cells have an increased uptake of glucose and an elevated glycolytic capacity (Warburg effect) compared to normal cells (Warburg et al., 1927). The resulting high concentrations of the oncometabolite lactate, caused by an enhanced LDH activity, lead to an acidification of the tumor microenvironment promoting tumor growth (Hirschhaeuser et al., 2011), aggressiveness, metastatic spread and tumor recurrence (Walenta et al., 2000). Additionally, high lactate levels suppress effector T and NK cell functions (Bohn et al., 2018; Brand et al., 2016; Siska et al., 2020) and promote the proliferation and activity of immunosuppressive cells including regulatory T_{reg} cells (Angelin et al., 2017). Recently, it has been shown that due to their metabolic flexibility T_{reg} cells can use lactic acid as an alternative fuel to maintain their immunosuppressive identity (Watson et al., 2021) and first reports indicated that the glucose/lactate metabolism might be linked to the HSR in immature boar Sertoli cells (Guan et al., 2018). The transcription HSF1, which is the master regulator of the stress response in eukaryotes, also regulates glucose metabolism (Dai et al., 2007), binds to the LDHA promotor and thereby increases the LDHA expression in breast cancer cells (Zhao et al., 2009). Furthermore, overexpression of Hsp70 in human HeLa cervical cancer cells leads to increased aerobic glycolysis (Wang et al., 2012). In hepatocellular carcinoma cells, enhanced lactate export and glycolytic activity are observed in cells overexpressing HSPA12A (Min et al., 2022). Despite these studies, only little is known about the relationship between oncometabolite lactate and the antiapoptotic stress response, particularly with respect to the functional consequences. Therefore, this study aimed to investigate the co-regulation of the lactate metabolism and the HSR with respect to radiation resistance in two different cancer cell systems. LDH inhibition was performed either genetically by an CRISPR/Cas9 mediated LDHA/B double knockout or pharmacologically by a treatment with the pyruvate analog oxamate.

4.1 Heat shock response of cancer cells can be significantly reduced by targeting the lactate/pyruvate metabolism

The inhibition of the LDH activity in the human colorectal carcinoma cell line LS174T with sublethal doses of oxamate (60 mM, 48 h) resulted in a significantly down regulation of the cytosolic stress proteins Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27 (Figure 7, (Schwab et al., 2022; Schwab et al., 2021)). These data are consistent with earlier findings demonstrating a reduction in HSPs by oxamate in hepatocellular carcinoma cells (Manerba et al., 2017). To confirm that the effects of oxamate on the synthesis of HSPs are mediated solely by LDH inhibition and not by direct impairment of HSPs expression or stability, cancer cells (LS174T and B16F10) with CRISPR/Cas9 generated LDHA/B double knockout were investigated with respect to their HSPs expression. Similar to the LDH inhibitor, depletion of LDHA/B significantly decreased the cytosolic HSP levels (Figure 7). Additionally, LDH^{-/-} cancer cells showed reduced metabolic and proliferative capacity which was associated with decreased ROS production (Schwab et al., 2022; Schwab et al., 2021). The genetic depletion of LDHA/B results in a metabolic shift in the tumor cells from glycolysis towards oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) (Zdralevic et al., 2018). A reduced oxidative metabolism is often related to a decreased ROS production, however, our results, which are consistent with those of an earlier study (Li et al., 2017), show that LDH^{-/-} cells with an inhibited glycolysis exhibit lower ROS levels than the corresponding WT cells (Schwab et al., 2022; Schwab et al., 2021). Potential explanations are that ROS production is promoted by lactate and pyruvate by triggering their mitochondrial activity (Tauffenberger et al., 2019) or that an excess of NADH, which is produced during the conversion of lactate to pyruvate, could provoke electron leakage and ROS production by the respiratory complex I (Vinogradov & Grivennikova, 2016).

The HSR is a key survival mechanism to protect cells from toxic effects caused by physical or biological stressors such as heat, heavy metals, toxins, oxidative stress, irradiation and infections by bacteria or viruses. This molecular response to cellular stress includes an increased synthesis of molecular chaperones like HSPs (Jolly & Morimoto, 2000; Morimoto, 1993). Tumor cells often show a constitutively upregulated HSP expression in the cytosol to prevent them from lethal damage induced by environmental stress and to enhance cell proliferation. The overexpression also promotes therapeutic resistance by affecting apoptotic pathways (Ciocca & Calderwood, 2005) and by stabilizing proteins which are involved in DNA repair

mechanism (Sottile & Nadin, 2018). Radioresistance of tumor cells is mediated not only by an upregulation of cytosolic, but also of plasma membrane bound Hsp70 levels (Murakami et al., 2015). This tumor specific membrane localization and anchorage of Hsp70 is enabled by a tumor-specific lipid composition. On the membrane, Hsp70 can bind to negatively charged glycosphingolipids including sulfogalactosyl ceramide (Mamelak et al., 2001) and globotriaosylceramide (Gb3) (Gehrmann et al., 2008) which are located in lipid rafts of tumor cells (Horvath et al., 2008). Furthermore, Hsp70 can interact with phosphatidylserine, which translocate to the outer plasma membrane leaflet upon environmental stress (De Maio & Hightower, 2021; Schilling et al., 2009). Pharmacological inhibition of LDH by oxamate or genetic inhibition by an LDHA/B double knockout significantly reduced Hsp70 membrane positivity in cancer cells (Figure 7). Confocal microscopy analysis revealed that the diminished Hsp70 membrane positivity was associated with a dramatic reduction in the Gb3 expression on the plasma membrane of the LS174T LDH^{-/-} cells compared to the corresponding WT cells. Comparative analysis of the cellular proteomes of LS174T WT and LDH^{-/-} showed substantial differences in major pathways related to cholesterol biosynthesis, mitochondrial dysfunction and lipid-, carbohydrate-, nucleic acid- and protein metabolism which might explain the reduced Gb3 expression in LDH^{-/-} cells (Schwab et al., 2022; Schwab et al., 2021).

The expression of Hsp70 on tumor cell membranes correlates with the localization of Hsp70 in lysosomal membranes. Membrane-bound Hsp70 mediates resistance to chemically and physically-induced membrane permeabilization by anticancer drugs and irradiation, respectively and prevents apoptosis by stabilizing plasma as well as lysosomal membranes (Kirkegaard et al., 2010; Multhoff et al., 2015; Nylandsted et al., 2004). Hsp70 contributes to membrane stability through its resistance to lysosomal hydrolases. This is mediated by an effective anchorage of Hsp70 to the lysosomal membranes via its high-affinity binding to bis(monoacylglycero)phosphate (BMP) which increases the lipid catabolism in lysosomes. The high-affinity association of Hsp70 and BMP facilitates the BMP binding of sphingolipid-degrading enzymes, thereby increasing their activity and inhibiting their degradation. Furthermore, Hsp70 can protect the membranes from oxidative stress and thereby stabilizes lysosomal membranes (Balogi et al., 2019). Due to the fact that both, elevated cytosolic and membrane bound HSPs, can lead to therapy resistance (Ciocca & Calderwood, 2005; Murakami et al., 2015), inhibition of the cellular stress response appears to be a

promising strategy to increase the efficacy of cancer therapies such as ionizing radiation.

4.2 Heat shock proteins as a target in cancer therapy

In recent years inhibitors of the major heat shock proteins Hsp27, Hsp70 and Hsp90 have been developed and tested in preclinical and clinical studies (Jego et al., 2013). One promising candidate is the potent synthetic small-molecule Hsp90 inhibitor NVP-AUY922 which binds to the NH₂-terminal nucleotide binding site of Hsp90. It inhibits tumor cell proliferation and viability (Brough et al., 2008; Eccles et al., 2008) while exhibiting radiosensitizing potential in vitro and in vivo (Schilling et al., 2012; Zaidi et al., 2012). This radiosensitization could be potentiated when NVP-AUY922 was combined with a HSF1 knockdown in lung cancer cells by impairing DNA double-strand break repair (Kuhnel et al., 2019). Inhibition of the LDH activity, genetically or pharmacologically, decreased the cytosolic expression of HSF1, Hsp90, Hsp70 and Hsp27 as well as membrane bound Hsp70 and thereby increased the radiosensitivity of cancer cells (Figure 7). Therefore, LDH inhibition might be an effective strategy to improve the clinical outcome of radiotherapy (Schwab et al., 2022; Schwab et al., 2021). Despite an increase in cytosolic Hsp70 and Hsp27 expression, leading to comparable cytosolic levels in WT and LDH^{-/-} cells, treatment with the Hsp90 inhibitor NVP-AUY922 resulted in radiosensitization of WT cells, which was even more pronounced in LDH^{-/-} cells (Figure 7). In contrast, the membrane Hsp70 expression remained unaltered in WT and LDH^{-/-} cells suggesting that the lower membrane Hsp70 positivity is responsible for the higher radiosensitizing effect in LDH^{-/-} cells (Schwab & Multhoff, 2022). Although a high Hsp70 expression, also on the plasma membrane, can mediate radioresistance (Murakami et al., 2015), membrane Hsp70 can serve as a target for activatory C-type lectin receptors on NK cells (Gross, Schmidt-Wolf, et al., 2003; Multhoff et al., 2015). A higher density of plasma membrane bound Hsp70 enhances their visibility towards NK cells, activated ex vivo with Hsp70 peptide TKD plus low dose IL-2, thereby increasing the killing of these tumor cells (Multhoff et al., 2001). The cytolytic function of NK cells is reflected by an increased release of apoptosis-inducing serine proteases such as GrB and pro-inflammatory cytokines including interferon-y (IFN-y). LS174T WT cells, which exhibit a higher membrane Hsp70 positivity than the LDH^{-/-} cells (Schwab et al., 2022; Schwab et al., 2021).

induced a higher GrB and IFN-y release after co-incubation with TKD/IL-2 activated NK cells compared to LDH^{-/-} cells. Furthermore, transduced peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs)-derived T cells with a novel anti-Hsp70 chimeric antigen receptor (CAR), capable of recognizing membrane Hsp70 on cancer cells, showed comparable results to TKD/IL-2 stimulated NK cells in terms of their cytolytic activity against membrane Hsp70 positive tumor cells (Bashiri Dezfouli et al., 2022). Ionizing radiation can further increase the density of Hsp70 on cancer cell membranes (Fellinger et al., 2020; Schwab et al., 2021), therefore a combination therapy consisting of radiation followed by NK/CAR-T cell therapy might improve clinical outcome of patients with membrane Hsp70 positive tumor cells. In a randomized phase II clinical trial patients with advance unresectable, membrane Hsp70 positive NSCLC were treated after radiochemotherapy with ex vivo Hsp70-activated, autologous NK cells. The NK cell therapy was well tolerated and delivered positive clinical responses in the patients receiving activated NK cells (Multhoff et al., 2020). High levels of Hsp70 may be associated with increased tumor aggressiveness (Ciocca & Calderwood, 2005). A study with glioma patients showed that Hsp70 protein levels are higher in glioblastoma (GBM) patients than in low-grade gliomas (Thorsteinsdottir et al., 2017) and GBM patients with low Hsp70 levels might favor a beneficial clinical outcome (Lobinger et al., 2021). Therefore, free and exosomal Hsp70 in blood of patients may represent a tumor-specific biomarker, which can be quantified by the Hsp70 compELISA (Werner et al., 2021).

4.3 Overcoming the resistance mechanisms of cancer cells

One of the major challenges in cancer therapy remains the resistance mechanisms of cancer cells. To overcome drug resistance, combination therapies using inhibitors targeting different HSPs or combining HSP inhibitors with conventional therapies such as chemo- or radiotherapy have recently been investigated, although clinical data are still missing (Jego et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2021). High lactate levels (Hirschhaeuser et al., 2011) as well as enhanced HSP expression increase the radioresistance of cancer cells (Ciocca & Calderwood, 2005; Murakami et al., 2015). LDH inhibition, genetically or pharmacologically, impairs both the lactate (Zdralevic et al., 2018) and HSP response (Schwab et al., 2022; Schwab et al., 2021) and thereby increases the radiosensitizing capacity of the HSP90 inhibitor NVP-AUY922 (Schwab & Multhoff,

2022). Therefore, LDH inhibition might provide a promising strategy to combat radioresistance and improve the clinical outcome of cancer patients. Various LDH inhibitors like FX11 (Le et al., 2010; Xian et al., 2015) and oxamate (Li et al., 2013; Manerba et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2014) showed promising results in inhibiting tumor growth and progression in preclinical models. Furthermore, the pyruvate analog oxamate reduced the expression levels of HSPs in a human hepatocellular carcinoma cell line (Manerba et al., 2017) and in a human colorectal adenocarcinoma cell line (Schwab et al., 2022; Schwab et al., 2021). Due to limited cell membrane permeability the effective dose of oxamate is too high for clinical use (Feng et al., 2018). Therefore, there is a need for developing more potent and less toxic LDH inhibitors that are able to interfere with the HSR. One promising candidate is GNE-140 (Boudreau et al., 2016) which showed similar results to oxamate in terms of inhibiting LDH and reducing HSPs (Schwab et al., 2022; Schwab et al., 2021). Nevertheless, GNE-140 is presently not able to maintain inhibition of LDH activity in vivo longer than 1 h due to its rapid in vivo clearance (Boudreau et al., 2016). Because gene knockout is difficult to translate into clinical practice and the currently available LDH inhibitors have poor stability and are highly toxic in vivo, their clinical use is limited. One possibility would be to search for compounds that phenocopy the effects of a genetic depletion of LDHA/B. The easiest and fast-forward way would be to screen already approved drugs for their potential impact on the lactate metabolism. This would avoid costly and time-consuming toxicity studies of newly designed drug candidates. The clinical approved nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug (NSAID) diclofenac might provide a promising candidate. Diclofenac reduced tumor growth in vitro and in vivo by its inhibitory effect on the cyclooxygenases COX1 and COX2 (Johnsen et al., 2004). For human colon cancer cell lines, it has been known for almost three decades that diclofenac exert antiproliferative effects (Hixson et al., 1994). Previous studies showed also COX-independent antitumoral effects of diclofenac. It can inhibit glycolytic genes such as the glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1), LDHA and MCT1 (Gottfried et al., 2013) and diminish MYC expression resulting in reduced uptake of glucose and lactate production (Chirasani et al., 2013; Gottfried et al., 2013; Leidgens et al., 2015). Furthermore, it was shown that diclofenac could act as a radiosensitizer in vitro and in vivo in COX2 overexpressing prostate cancer cells (Inoue et al., 2013). My unpublished data showed that diclofenac reduces LDH activity, decreases MYC expression, diminishes cytosolic HSF1, Hsp70 and Hsp27 levels and membrane Hsp70 positivity in colorectal LS174T and LoVo cancer cells, but not in lung A549 carcinoma cells, MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells and COLO-357 pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells. The impaired lactate metabolism and stress response was associated with a significantly increased sensitivity towards radiation and 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) in LS174T and LoVo cells. Therefore, monitoring of the LDH activity and heat shock response upon diclofenac treatment might be predictive for the radiation and/or chemo-sensitizing capacity of the drug. It remains to be investigated why diclofenac shows different effects in different cell lines. Nevertheless, diclofenac is a promising candidate, which could potentially be repurposed as a LDH inhibitor although further studies are needed in preclinical animal models.



Figure 7: Schematic illustration of the main findings. LDH inhibition by LDH inhibitors oxamate and GNE-140 or by *LDHA/B* double knockout (LDH^{-/-}) reduces the radioresistance of cancer cells by a downregulation of cytosolic, anti-apoptotic heat shock proteins (HSPs), a decrease in plasma membrane bound Hsp70 and an impaired lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity. Whereas the lactate transporter monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1) remains unchanged. Elevated extracellular Hsp70 levels in cancer cells with an impaired lactate metabolism are associated with a diminished membrane expression of the Hsp70-anchoring glycosphingolipid globotriaosylceramide (Gb3). Treatment with the Hsp90 inhibitor NVP-AUY922 resulted in radiosensitization of wild type (WT) cells, which was even more pronounced in LDH^{-/-} cells (adapted from (Schwab et al., 2021)).

5 Bibliography

- Albakova, Z., Armeev, G. A., Kanevskiy, L. M., Kovalenko, E. I., & Sapozhnikov, A. M. (2020). HSP70 Multi-Functionality in Cancer. *Cells, 9*(3). doi:10.3390/cells9030587
- Ambrose, A. J., & Chapman, E. (2021). Function, Therapeutic Potential, and Inhibition of Hsp70 Chaperones. *J Med Chem, 64*(11), 7060-7082. doi:10.1021/acs.jmedchem.0c02091
- Angelin, A., Gil-de-Gomez, L., Dahiya, S., Jiao, J., Guo, L., Levine, M. H., Wang, Z., Quinn, W. J., 3rd, Kopinski, P. K., Wang, L., Akimova, T., Liu, Y., Bhatti, T. R., Han, R., Laskin, B. L., Baur, J. A., Blair, I. A., Wallace, D. C., Hancock, W. W., & Beier, U. H. (2017). Foxp3 Reprograms T Cell Metabolism to Function in Low-Glucose, High-Lactate Environments. *Cell Metab, 25*(6), 1282-1293 e1287. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2016.12.018
- Asea, A., Kraeft, S. K., Kurt-Jones, E. A., Stevenson, M. A., Chen, L. B., Finberg, R. W., Koo, G. C., & Calderwood, S. K. (2000). HSP70 stimulates cytokine production through a CD14-dependent pathway, demonstrating its dual role as a chaperone and cytokine. *Nat Med, 6*(4), 435-442. doi:10.1038/74697
- Asea, A., Rehli, M., Kabingu, E., Boch, J. A., Bare, O., Auron, P. E., Stevenson, M. A., & Calderwood, S. K. (2002). Novel signal transduction pathway utilized by extracellular HSP70: role of toll-like receptor (TLR) 2 and TLR4. *J Biol Chem*, 277(17), 15028-15034. doi:10.1074/jbc.M200497200
- Balogi, Z., Multhoff, G., Jensen, T. K., Lloyd-Evans, E., Yamashima, T., Jaattela, M., Harwood, J. L., & Vigh, L. (2019). Hsp70 interactions with membrane lipids regulate cellular functions in health and disease. *Prog Lipid Res, 74*, 18-30. doi:10.1016/j.plipres.2019.01.004
- Bashiri Dezfouli, A., Yazdi, M., Benmebarek, M. R., Schwab, M., Michaelides, S., Micciche, A., Geerts, D., Stangl, S., Klapproth, S., Wagner, E., Kobold, S., & Multhoff, G. (2022). CAR T Cells Targeting Membrane-Bound Hsp70 on Tumor Cells Mimic Hsp70-Primed NK Cells. *Front Immunol, 13*, 883694. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2022.883694
- Bausero, M. A., Gastpar, R., Multhoff, G., & Asea, A. (2005). Alternative mechanism by which IFN-gamma enhances tumor recognition: active release of heat shock protein 72. *J Immunol, 175*(5), 2900-2912. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.175.5.2900
- Bertelsen, E. B., Chang, L., Gestwicki, J. E., & Zuiderweg, E. R. (2009). Solution conformation of wild-type E. coli Hsp70 (DnaK) chaperone complexed with ADP and substrate. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 106(21), 8471-8476. doi:10.1073/pnas.0903503106

- Blachere, N. E., Li, Z., Chandawarkar, R. Y., Suto, R., Jaikaria, N. S., Basu, S., Udono, H., & Srivastava, P. K. (1997). Heat shock protein-peptide complexes, reconstituted in vitro, elicit peptide-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte response and tumor immunity. J Exp Med, 186(8), 1315-1322. doi:10.1084/jem.186.8.1315
- Bloch, O., Crane, C. A., Fuks, Y., Kaur, R., Aghi, M. K., Berger, M. S., Butowski, N. A., Chang, S. M., Clarke, J. L., McDermott, M. W., Prados, M. D., Sloan, A. E., Bruce, J. N., & Parsa, A. T. (2014). Heat-shock protein peptide complex-96 vaccination for recurrent glioblastoma: a phase II, single-arm trial. *Neuro Oncol*, 16(2), 274-279. doi:10.1093/neuonc/not203
- Bohn, T., Rapp, S., Luther, N., Klein, M., Bruehl, T. J., Kojima, N., Aranda Lopez, P., Hahlbrock, J., Muth, S., Endo, S., Pektor, S., Brand, A., Renner, K., Popp, V., Gerlach, K., Vogel, D., Lueckel, C., Arnold-Schild, D., Pouyssegur, J., Kreutz, M., Huber, M., Koenig, J., Weigmann, B., Probst, H. C., von Stebut, E., Becker, C., Schild, H., Schmitt, E., & Bopp, T. (2018). Tumor immunoevasion via acidosis-dependent induction of regulatory tumor-associated macrophages. *Nat Immunol, 19*(12), 1319-1329. doi:10.1038/s41590-018-0226-8
- Boudreau, A., Purkey, H. E., Hitz, A., Robarge, K., Peterson, D., Labadie, S., Kwong, M., Hong, R., Gao, M., Del Nagro, C., Pusapati, R., Ma, S., Salphati, L., Pang, J., Zhou, A., Lai, T., Li, Y., Chen, Z., Wei, B., Yen, I., Sideris, S., McCleland, M., Firestein, R., Corson, L., Vanderbilt, A., Williams, S., Daemen, A., Belvin, M., Eigenbrot, C., Jackson, P. K., Malek, S., Hatzivassiliou, G., Sampath, D., Evangelista, M., & O'Brien, T. (2016). Metabolic plasticity underpins innate and acquired resistance to LDHA inhibition. *Nat Chem Biol, 12*(10), 779-786. doi:10.1038/nchembio.2143
- Brand, A., Singer, K., Koehl, G. E., Kolitzus, M., Schoenhammer, G., Thiel, A., Matos, C., Bruss, C., Klobuch, S., Peter, K., Kastenberger, M., Bogdan, C., Schleicher, U., Mackensen, A., Ullrich, E., Fichtner-Feigl, S., Kesselring, R., Mack, M., Ritter, U., Schmid, M., Blank, C., Dettmer, K., Oefner, P. J., Hoffmann, P., Walenta, S., Geissler, E. K., Pouyssegur, J., Villunger, A., Steven, A., Seliger, B., Schreml, S., Haferkamp, S., Kohl, E., Karrer, S., Berneburg, M., Herr, W., Mueller-Klieser, W., Renner, K., & Kreutz, M. (2016). LDHA-Associated Lactic Acid Production Blunts Tumor Immunosurveillance by T and NK Cells. *Cell Metab*, *24*(5), 657-671. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2016.08.011
- Breloer, M., Fleischer, B., & von Bonin, A. (1999). In vivo and in vitro activation of T cells after administration of Ag-negative heat shock proteins. *J Immunol, 162*(6), 3141-3147.
- Brough, P. A., Aherne, W., Barril, X., Borgognoni, J., Boxall, K., Cansfield, J. E., Cheung, K. M., Collins, I., Davies, N. G., Drysdale, M. J., Dymock, B., Eccles, S. A., Finch, H., Fink, A., Hayes, A., Howes, R., Hubbard, R. E., James, K., Jordan, A. M., Lockie, A., Martins, V., Massey, A., Matthews, T. P., McDonald, E., Northfield, C. J., Pearl, L. H., Prodromou, C., Ray, S., Raynaud, F. I., Roughley, S. D., Sharp, S. Y., Surgenor, A., Walmsley, D. L., Webb, P., Wood, M., Workman, P., & Wright, L. (2008). 4,5-diarylisoxazole Hsp90 chaperone inhibitors: potential therapeutic agents for the treatment of cancer. *J Med Chem*, *51*(2), 196-218. doi:10.1021/jm701018h

- Chirasani, S. R., Leukel, P., Gottfried, E., Hochrein, J., Stadler, K., Neumann, B., Oefner, P. J., Gronwald, W., Bogdahn, U., Hau, P., Kreutz, M., & Grauer, O. M. (2013). Diclofenac inhibits lactate formation and efficiently counteracts local immune suppression in a murine glioma model. *Int J Cancer, 132*(4), 843-853. doi:10.1002/ijc.27712
- Ciocca, D. R., & Calderwood, S. K. (2005). Heat shock proteins in cancer: diagnostic, prognostic, predictive, and treatment implications. *Cell Stress Chaperones*, *10*(2), 86-103. doi:10.1379/csc-99r.1
- Dai, C., Whitesell, L., Rogers, A. B., & Lindquist, S. (2007). Heat shock factor 1 is a powerful multifaceted modifier of carcinogenesis. *Cell, 130*(6), 1005-1018. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.07.020
- de la Cruz-Lopez, K. G., Castro-Munoz, L. J., Reyes-Hernandez, D. O., Garcia-Carranca, A., & Manzo-Merino, J. (2019). Lactate in the Regulation of Tumor Microenvironment and Therapeutic Approaches. *Front Oncol, 9*, 1143. doi:10.3389/fonc.2019.01143
- De Maio, A., & Hightower, L. (2021). The interaction of heat shock proteins with cellular membranes: a historical perspective. *Cell Stress Chaperones, 26*(5), 769-783. doi:10.1007/s12192-021-01228-y
- Dimopoulos, M. A., Barlogie, B., Smith, T. L., & Alexanian, R. (1991). High serum lactate dehydrogenase level as a marker for drug resistance and short survival in multiple myeloma. *Ann Intern Med, 115*(12), 931-935. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-115-12-931
- Dokladny, K., Myers, O. B., & Moseley, P. L. (2015). Heat shock response and autophagy--cooperation and control. *Autophagy*, *11*(2), 200-213. doi:10.1080/15548627.2015.1009776
- Eccles, S. A., Massey, A., Raynaud, F. I., Sharp, S. Y., Box, G., Valenti, M., Patterson, L., de Haven Brandon, A., Gowan, S., Boxall, F., Aherne, W., Rowlands, M., Hayes, A., Martins, V., Urban, F., Boxall, K., Prodromou, C., Pearl, L., James, K., Matthews, T. P., Cheung, K. M., Kalusa, A., Jones, K., McDonald, E., Barril, X., Brough, P. A., Cansfield, J. E., Dymock, B., Drysdale, M. J., Finch, H., Howes, R., Hubbard, R. E., Surgenor, A., Webb, P., Wood, M., Wright, L., & Workman, P. (2008). NVP-AUY922: a novel heat shock protein 90 inhibitor active against xenograft tumor growth, angiogenesis, and metastasis. *Cancer Res, 68*(8), 2850-2860. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-5256
- Farhana, A., & Lappin, S. L. (2022). Biochemistry, Lactate Dehydrogenase. In *StatPearls*. Treasure Island (FL).
- Feichtinger, R. G., & Lang, R. (2019). Targeting L-Lactate Metabolism to Overcome Resistance to Immune Therapy of Melanoma and Other Tumor Entities. J Oncol, 2019, 2084195. doi:10.1155/2019/2084195
- Fellinger, H., Stangl, S., Hernandez Schnelzer, A., Schwab, M., Di Genio, T., Pieper, M., Werner, C., Shevtsov, M., Haller, B., & Multhoff, G. (2020). Time- and Dose-Dependent Effects of Ionizing Irradiation on the Membrane Expression of Hsp70 on Glioma Cells. *Cells*, 9(4). doi:10.3390/cells9040912

- Feng, Y., Xiong, Y., Qiao, T., Li, X., Jia, L., & Han, Y. (2018). Lactate dehydrogenase A: A key player in carcinogenesis and potential target in cancer therapy. *Cancer Med*, 7(12), 6124-6136. doi:10.1002/cam4.1820
- Fernandez-Fernandez, M. R., Gragera, M., Ochoa-Ibarrola, L., Quintana-Gallardo, L., & Valpuesta, J. M. (2017). Hsp70 - a master regulator in protein degradation. *FEBS Lett*, 591(17), 2648-2660. doi:10.1002/1873-3468.12751
- Flaherty, K. M., DeLuca-Flaherty, C., & McKay, D. B. (1990). Three-dimensional structure of the ATPase fragment of a 70K heat-shock cognate protein. *Nature, 346*(6285), 623-628. doi:10.1038/346623a0
- Forkasiewicz, A., Dorociak, M., Stach, K., Szelachowski, P., Tabola, R., & Augoff, K. (2020). The usefulness of lactate dehydrogenase measurements in current oncological practice. *Cell Mol Biol Lett,* 25, 35. doi:10.1186/s11658-020-00228-7
- Garrido, C., Gurbuxani, S., Ravagnan, L., & Kroemer, G. (2001). Heat shock proteins: endogenous modulators of apoptotic cell death. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 286*(3), 433-442. doi:10.1006/bbrc.2001.5427
- Gastpar, R., Gehrmann, M., Bausero, M. A., Asea, A., Gross, C., Schroeder, J. A., & Multhoff, G. (2005). Heat shock protein 70 surface-positive tumor exosomes stimulate migratory and cytolytic activity of natural killer cells. *Cancer Res,* 65(12), 5238-5247. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3804
- Gehrmann, M., Liebisch, G., Schmitz, G., Anderson, R., Steinem, C., De Maio, A., Pockley, G., & Multhoff, G. (2008). Tumor-specific Hsp70 plasma membrane localization is enabled by the glycosphingolipid Gb3. *PLoS One, 3*(4), e1925. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001925
- Gehrmann, M., Marienhagen, J., Eichholtz-Wirth, H., Fritz, E., Ellwart, J., Jaattela, M., Zilch, T., & Multhoff, G. (2005). Dual function of membrane-bound heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70), Bag-4, and Hsp40: protection against radiation-induced effects and target structure for natural killer cells. *Cell Death Differ, 12*(1), 38-51. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4401510
- Gehrmann, M., Pfister, K., Hutzler, P., Gastpar, R., Margulis, B., & Multhoff, G. (2002).
 Effects of antineoplastic agents on cytoplasmic and membrane-bound heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) levels. *Biol Chem, 383*(11), 1715-1725. doi:10.1515/BC.2002.192
- Glick, D., Barth, S., & Macleod, K. F. (2010). Autophagy: cellular and molecular mechanisms. *J Pathol, 221*(1), 3-12. doi:10.1002/path.2697
- Goldman, R. D., Kaplan, N. O., & Hall, T. C. (1964). Lactic Dehydrogenase in Human Neoplastic Tissues. *Cancer Res, 24*, 389-399.
- Gomez-Pastor, R., Burchfiel, E. T., & Thiele, D. J. (2018). Regulation of heat shock transcription factors and their roles in physiology and disease. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 19*(1), 4-19. doi:10.1038/nrm.2017.73

- Gottfried, E., Lang, S. A., Renner, K., Bosserhoff, A., Gronwald, W., Rehli, M., Einhell, S., Gedig, I., Singer, K., Seilbeck, A., Mackensen, A., Grauer, O., Hau, P., Dettmer, K., Andreesen, R., Oefner, P. J., & Kreutz, M. (2013). New aspects of an old drug-diclofenac targets MYC and glucose metabolism in tumor cells. *PLoS One*, *8*(7), e66987. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0066987
- Gross, C., Koelch, W., DeMaio, A., Arispe, N., & Multhoff, G. (2003). Cell surfacebound heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) mediates perforin-independent apoptosis by specific binding and uptake of granzyme B. *J Biol Chem*, 278(42), 41173-41181. doi:10.1074/jbc.M302644200
- Gross, C., Schmidt-Wolf, I. G., Nagaraj, S., Gastpar, R., Ellwart, J., Kunz-Schughart, L. A., & Multhoff, G. (2003). Heat shock protein 70-reactivity is associated with increased cell surface density of CD94/CD56 on primary natural killer cells. *Cell Stress Chaperones*, *8*(4), 348-360. doi:10.1379/1466-1268(2003)008<0348:hspria>2.0.co;2
- Guan, J. Y., Liao, T. T., Yu, C. L., Luo, H. Y., Yang, W. R., & Wang, X. Z. (2018). ERK1/2 regulates heat stress-induced lactate production via enhancing the expression of HSP70 in immature boar Sertoli cells. *Cell Stress Chaperones*, 23(6), 1193-1204. doi:10.1007/s12192-018-0925-y
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell, 100*(1), 57-70. doi:10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81683-9
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell, 144*(5), 646-674. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Hartl, F. U. (1996). Molecular chaperones in cellular protein folding. *Nature, 381*(6583), 571-579. doi:10.1038/381571a0
- Hartl, F. U., & Hayer-Hartl, M. (2002). Molecular chaperones in the cytosol: from nascent chain to folded protein. *Science*, *295*(5561), 1852-1858. doi:10.1126/science.1068408
- Herranz, N., & Gil, J. (2018). Mechanisms and functions of cellular senescence. *J Clin Invest, 128*(4), 1238-1246. doi:10.1172/JCI95148
- Hirschhaeuser, F., Sattler, U. G., & Mueller-Klieser, W. (2011). Lactate: a metabolic key player in cancer. *Cancer Res,* 71(22), 6921-6925. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1457
- Hixson, L. J., Alberts, D. S., Krutzsch, M., Einsphar, J., Brendel, K., Gross, P. H., Paranka, N. S., Baier, M., Emerson, S., Pamukcu, R., & et al. (1994). Antiproliferative effect of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs against human colon cancer cells. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 3*(5), 433-438.
- Horvath, I., Multhoff, G., Sonnleitner, A., & Vigh, L. (2008). Membrane-associated stress proteins: more than simply chaperones. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, *1778*(7-8), 1653-1664. doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2008.02.012

- Inoue, T., Anai, S., Onishi, S., Miyake, M., Tanaka, N., Hirayama, A., Fujimoto, K., & Hirao, Y. (2013). Inhibition of COX-2 expression by topical diclofenac enhanced radiation sensitivity via enhancement of TRAIL in human prostate adenocarcinoma xenograft model. *BMC Urol, 13*, 1. doi:10.1186/1471-2490-13-1
- Jego, G., Hazoume, A., Seigneuric, R., & Garrido, C. (2013). Targeting heat shock proteins in cancer. *Cancer Lett, 332*(2), 275-285. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2010.10.014
- Johnsen, J. I., Lindskog, M., Ponthan, F., Pettersen, I., Elfman, L., Orrego, A., Sveinbjornsson, B., & Kogner, P. (2004). Cyclooxygenase-2 is expressed in neuroblastoma, and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs induce apoptosis and inhibit tumor growth in vivo. *Cancer Res, 64*(20), 7210-7215. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1795
- Jolly, C., & Morimoto, R. I. (2000). Role of the heat shock response and molecular chaperones in oncogenesis and cell death. *J Natl Cancer Inst, 92*(19), 1564-1572. doi:10.1093/jnci/92.19.1564
- Kaller, M., Liffers, S. T., Oeljeklaus, S., Kuhlmann, K., Roh, S., Hoffmann, R., Warscheid, B., & Hermeking, H. (2011). Genome-wide characterization of miR-34a induced changes in protein and mRNA expression by a combined pulsed SILAC and microarray analysis. *Mol Cell Proteomics, 10*(8), M111 010462. doi:10.1074/mcp.M111.010462
- Kijima, T., Prince, T. L., Tigue, M. L., Yim, K. H., Schwartz, H., Beebe, K., Lee, S., Budzynski, M. A., Williams, H., Trepel, J. B., Sistonen, L., Calderwood, S., & Neckers, L. (2018). HSP90 inhibitors disrupt a transient HSP90-HSF1 interaction and identify a noncanonical model of HSP90-mediated HSF1 regulation. *Sci Rep, 8*(1), 6976. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-25404-w
- Kim, S. H., & Baek, K. H. (2021). Regulation of Cancer Metabolism by Deubiquitinating Enzymes: The Warburg Effect. *Int J Mol Sci, 22*(12). doi:10.3390/ijms22126173
- Kinzel, L., Ernst, A., Orth, M., Albrecht, V., Hennel, R., Brix, N., Frey, B., Gaipl, U. S., Zuchtriegel, G., Reichel, C. A., Blutke, A., Schilling, D., Multhoff, G., Li, M., Niyazi, M., Friedl, A. A., Winssinger, N., Belka, C., & Lauber, K. (2016). A novel HSP90 inhibitor with reduced hepatotoxicity synergizes with radiotherapy to induce apoptosis, abrogate clonogenic survival, and improve tumor control in models of colorectal cancer. *Oncotarget*, 7(28), 43199-43219. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.9774
- Kirkegaard, T., Roth, A. G., Petersen, N. H., Mahalka, A. K., Olsen, O. D., Moilanen, I., Zylicz, A., Knudsen, J., Sandhoff, K., Arenz, C., Kinnunen, P. K., Nylandsted, J., & Jaattela, M. (2010). Hsp70 stabilizes lysosomes and reverts Niemann-Pick disease-associated lysosomal pathology. *Nature*, *463*(7280), 549-553. doi:10.1038/nature08710

- Kluger, H. M., Chelouche Lev, D., Kluger, Y., McCarthy, M. M., Kiriakova, G., Camp, R. L., Rimm, D. L., & Price, J. E. (2005). Using a xenograft model of human breast cancer metastasis to find genes associated with clinically aggressive disease. *Cancer Res, 65*(13), 5578-5587. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-0108
- Koukourakis, M. I., Giatromanolaki, A., Sivridis, E., Bougioukas, G., Didilis, V., Gatter, K. C., Harris, A. L., Tumour, & Angiogenesis Research, G. (2003). Lactate dehydrogenase-5 (LDH-5) overexpression in non-small-cell lung cancer tissues is linked to tumour hypoxia, angiogenic factor production and poor prognosis. *Br J Cancer*, *89*(5), 877-885. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6601205
- Krause, S. W., Gastpar, R., Andreesen, R., Gross, C., Ullrich, H., Thonigs, G., Pfister, K., & Multhoff, G. (2004). Treatment of colon and lung cancer patients with ex vivo heat shock protein 70-peptide-activated, autologous natural killer cells: a clinical phase i trial. *Clin Cancer Res, 10*(11), 3699-3707. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-03-0683
- Kuhnel, A., Schilling, D., Combs, S. E., Haller, B., Schwab, M., & Multhoff, G. (2019). Radiosensitization of HSF-1 Knockdown Lung Cancer Cells by Low Concentrations of Hsp90 Inhibitor NVP-AUY922. *Cells, 8*(10). doi:10.3390/cells8101166
- Le, A., Cooper, C. R., Gouw, A. M., Dinavahi, R., Maitra, A., Deck, L. M., Royer, R. E., Vander Jagt, D. L., Semenza, G. L., & Dang, C. V. (2010). Inhibition of lactate dehydrogenase A induces oxidative stress and inhibits tumor progression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 107(5), 2037-2042. doi:10.1073/pnas.0914433107
- Leidgens, V., Seliger, C., Jachnik, B., Welz, T., Leukel, P., Vollmann-Zwerenz, A., Bogdahn, U., Kreutz, M., Grauer, O. M., & Hau, P. (2015). Ibuprofen and Diclofenac Restrict Migration and Proliferation of Human Glioma Cells by Distinct Molecular Mechanisms. *PLoS One, 10*(10), e0140613. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0140613
- Li, C., Chen, Y., Bai, P., Wang, J., Liu, Z., Wang, T., & Cai, Q. (2016). LDHB may be a significant predictor of poor prognosis in osteosarcoma. *Am J Transl Res*, *8*(11), 4831-4843.
- Li, X., Lu, W., Hu, Y., Wen, S., Qian, C., Wu, W., & Huang, P. (2013). Effective inhibition of nasopharyngeal carcinoma in vitro and in vivo by targeting glycolysis with oxamate. *Int J Oncol, 43*(5), 1710-1718. doi:10.3892/ijo.2013.2080
- Li, Y., Li, X., Kan, Q., Zhang, M., Li, X., Xu, R., Wang, J., Yu, D., Goscinski, M. A., Wen, J. G., Nesland, J. M., & Suo, Z. (2017). Mitochondrial pyruvate carrier function is negatively linked to Warburg phenotype in vitro and malignant features in esophageal squamous cell carcinomas. *Oncotarget, 8*(1), 1058-1073. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.13717
- Lindquist, S., & Craig, E. A. (1988). The heat-shock proteins. *Annu Rev Genet, 22*, 631-677. doi:10.1146/annurev.ge.22.120188.003215

- Lobinger, D., Gempt, J., Sievert, W., Barz, M., Schmitt, S., Nguyen, H. T., Stangl, S., Werner, C., Wang, F., Wu, Z., Fan, H., Zanth, H., Shevtsov, M., Pilz, M., Riederer, I., Schwab, M., Schlegel, J., & Multhoff, G. (2021). Potential Role of Hsp70 and Activated NK Cells for Prediction of Prognosis in Glioblastoma Patients. *Front Mol Biosci, 8*, 669366. doi:10.3389/fmolb.2021.669366
- Lunt, S. Y., & Vander Heiden, M. G. (2011). Aerobic glycolysis: meeting the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 27*, 441-464. doi:10.1146/annurev-cellbio-092910-154237
- Mamelak, D., Mylvaganam, M., Whetstone, H., Hartmann, E., Lennarz, W., Wyrick, P. B., Raulston, J., Han, H., Hoffman, P., & Lingwood, C. A. (2001). Hsp70s contain a specific sulfogalactolipid binding site. Differential aglycone influence on sulfogalactosyl ceramide binding by recombinant prokaryotic and eukaryotic hsp70 family members. *Biochemistry*, 40(12), 3572-3582. doi:10.1021/bi001643u
- Manerba, M., Di Ianni, L., Govoni, M., Roberti, M., Recanatini, M., & Di Stefano, G. (2017). LDH inhibition impacts on heat shock response and induces senescence of hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Eur J Pharm Sci, 105*, 91-98. doi:10.1016/j.ejps.2017.05.015
- Markert, C. L., & Moller, F. (1959). Multiple Forms of Enzymes: Tissue, Ontogenetic, and Species Specific Patterns. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 45*(5), 753-763. doi:10.1073/pnas.45.5.753
- Mayer, M. P., & Bukau, B. (2005). Hsp70 chaperones: cellular functions and molecular mechanism. *Cell Mol Life Sci, 62*(6), 670-684. doi:10.1007/s00018-004-4464-6
- McCleland, M. L., Adler, A. S., Deming, L., Cosino, E., Lee, L., Blackwood, E. M., Solon, M., Tao, J., Li, L., Shames, D., Jackson, E., Forrest, W. F., & Firestein, R. (2013). Lactate dehydrogenase B is required for the growth of KRASdependent lung adenocarcinomas. *Clin Cancer Res, 19*(4), 773-784. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-2638
- McCleland, M. L., Adler, A. S., Shang, Y., Hunsaker, T., Truong, T., Peterson, D., Torres, E., Li, L., Haley, B., Stephan, J. P., Belvin, M., Hatzivassiliou, G., Blackwood, E. M., Corson, L., Evangelista, M., Zha, J., & Firestein, R. (2012). An integrated genomic screen identifies LDHB as an essential gene for triplenegative breast cancer. *Cancer Res, 72*(22), 5812-5823. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-1098
- Min, X., Cheng, H., Cao, X., Chen, Z., Zhang, X., Li, Y., Mao, Q., Xue, B., Fang, L., Liu, L., & Ding, Z. (2022). Heat shock protein A12A activates migration of hepatocellular carcinoma cells in a monocarboxylate transporter 4-dependent manner. *Cell Stress Chaperones*, 27(1), 83-95. doi:10.1007/s12192-021-01251-z
- Morimoto, R. I. (1993). Cells in stress: transcriptional activation of heat shock genes. *Science*, 259(5100), 1409-1410. doi:10.1126/science.8451637

- Morimoto, R. I. (1998). Regulation of the heat shock transcriptional response: cross talk between a family of heat shock factors, molecular chaperones, and negative regulators. *Genes Dev, 12*(24), 3788-3796. doi:10.1101/gad.12.24.3788
- Moseley, P. L. (1997). Heat shock proteins and heat adaptation of the whole organism. *J Appl Physiol (1985), 83*(5), 1413-1417. doi:10.1152/jappl.1997.83.5.1413
- Mosser, D. D., Caron, A. W., Bourget, L., Denis-Larose, C., & Massie, B. (1997). Role of the human heat shock protein hsp70 in protection against stress-induced apoptosis. *Mol Cell Biol, 17*(9), 5317-5327. doi:10.1128/MCB.17.9.5317
- Multhoff, G., Botzler, C., Wiesnet, M., Muller, E., Meier, T., Wilmanns, W., & Issels, R. D. (1995). A stress-inducible 72-kDa heat-shock protein (HSP72) is expressed on the surface of human tumor cells, but not on normal cells. *Int J Cancer, 61*(2), 272-279. doi:10.1002/ijc.2910610222
- Multhoff, G., Pfister, K., Gehrmann, M., Hantschel, M., Gross, C., Hafner, M., & Hiddemann, W. (2001). A 14-mer Hsp70 peptide stimulates natural killer (NK) cell activity. *Cell Stress Chaperones, 6*(4), 337-344. doi:10.1379/1466-1268(2001)006<0337:AMHPSN>2.0.CO;2
- Multhoff, G., Pockley, A. G., Schmid, T. E., & Schilling, D. (2015). The role of heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) in radiation-induced immunomodulation. *Cancer Lett, 368*(2), 179-184. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2015.02.013
- Multhoff, G., Seier, S., Stangl, S., Sievert, W., Shevtsov, M., Werner, C., Pockley, A. G., Blankenstein, C., Hildebrandt, M., Offner, R., Ahrens, N., Kokowski, K., Hautmann, M., Rodel, C., Fietkau, R., Lubgan, D., Huber, R., Hautmann, H., Duell, T., Molls, M., Specht, H., Haller, B., Devecka, M., Sauter, A., & Combs, S. E. (2020). Targeted Natural Killer Cell-Based Adoptive Immunotherapy for the Treatment of Patients with NSCLC after Radiochemotherapy: A Randomized Phase II Clinical Trial. *Clin Cancer Res, 26*(20), 5368-5379. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-20-1141
- Murakami, N., Kuhnel, A., Schmid, T. E., Ilicic, K., Stangl, S., Braun, I. S., Gehrmann, M., Molls, M., Itami, J., & Multhoff, G. (2015). Role of membrane Hsp70 in radiation sensitivity of tumor cells. *Radiat Oncol, 10*, 149. doi:10.1186/s13014-015-0461-1
- Murphy, M. E. (2013). The HSP70 family and cancer. *Carcinogenesis, 34*(6), 1181-1188. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgt111
- Nylandsted, J., Gyrd-Hansen, M., Danielewicz, A., Fehrenbacher, N., Lademann, U., Hoyer-Hansen, M., Weber, E., Multhoff, G., Rohde, M., & Jaattela, M. (2004).
 Heat shock protein 70 promotes cell survival by inhibiting lysosomal membrane permeabilization. *J Exp Med*, 200(4), 425-435. doi:10.1084/jem.20040531
- Nylandsted, J., Rohde, M., Brand, K., Bastholm, L., Elling, F., & Jaattela, M. (2000). Selective depletion of heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) activates a tumor-specific death program that is independent of caspases and bypasses Bcl-2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, *97*(14), 7871-7876. doi:10.1073/pnas.97.14.7871

- Park, S. H., Baek, K. H., Shin, I., & Shin, I. (2018). Subcellular Hsp70 Inhibitors Promote Cancer Cell Death via Different Mechanisms. *Cell Chem Biol, 25*(10), 1242-1254 e1248. doi:10.1016/j.chembiol.2018.06.010
- Park, S. L., Chung, T. W., Kim, S., Hwang, B., Kim, J. M., Lee, H. M., Cha, H. J., Seo, Y., Choe, S. Y., Ha, K. T., Kim, G., Yun, S. J., Park, S. S., Choi, Y. H., Kim, B. K., Kim, W. T., Cha, E. J., Patterson, C., Kim, W. J., & Moon, S. K. (2017). HSP70-1 is required for interleukin-5-induced angiogenic responses through eNOS pathway. *Sci Rep, 7*, 44687. doi:10.1038/srep44687
- Pavlova, N. N., & Thompson, C. B. (2016). The Emerging Hallmarks of Cancer Metabolism. *Cell Metab*, 23(1), 27-47. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2015.12.006
- Perez-Tomas, R., & Perez-Guillen, I. (2020). Lactate in the Tumor Microenvironment: An Essential Molecule in Cancer Progression and Treatment. *Cancers (Basel),* 12(11). doi:10.3390/cancers12113244
- Pockley, A. G., Henderson, B., & Multhoff, G. (2014). Extracellular cell stress proteins as biomarkers of human disease. *Biochem Soc Trans, 42*(6), 1744-1751. doi:10.1042/BST20140205
- Radons, J. (2016). The human HSP70 family of chaperones: where do we stand? *Cell Stress Chaperones, 21*(3), 379-404. doi:10.1007/s12192-016-0676-6
- Rittosa, F. (1962). A new puffing pattern induced by temperature shock and DNP in drosophila. *Experientia*, *18*(*12*), 571-573. doi:10.1007/bf02172188
- Rong, Y., Wu, W., Ni, X., Kuang, T., Jin, D., Wang, D., & Lou, W. (2013). Lactate dehydrogenase A is overexpressed in pancreatic cancer and promotes the growth of pancreatic cancer cells. *Tumour Biol, 34*(3), 1523-1530. doi:10.1007/s13277-013-0679-1
- Rosenzweig, R., Nillegoda, N. B., Mayer, M. P., & Bukau, B. (2019). The Hsp70 chaperone network. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 20*(11), 665-680. doi:10.1038/s41580-019-0133-3
- Rothammer, A., Sage, E. K., Werner, C., Combs, S. E., & Multhoff, G. (2019). Increased heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) serum levels and low NK cell counts after radiotherapy - potential markers for predicting breast cancer recurrence? *Radiat Oncol, 14*(1), 78. doi:10.1186/s13014-019-1286-0
- Sanchez, J., Carter, T. R., Cohen, M. S., & Blagg, B. S. J. (2020). Old and New Approaches to Target the Hsp90 Chaperone. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets, 20*(4), 253-270. doi:10.2174/1568009619666191202101330
- Schilling, D., Bayer, C., Li, W., Molls, M., Vaupel, P., & Multhoff, G. (2012). Radiosensitization of normoxic and hypoxic h1339 lung tumor cells by heat shock protein 90 inhibition is independent of hypoxia inducible factor-1alpha. *PLoS One*, 7(2), e31110. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0031110

- Schilling, D., Gehrmann, M., Steinem, C., De Maio, A., Pockley, A. G., Abend, M., Molls, M., & Multhoff, G. (2009). Binding of heat shock protein 70 to extracellular phosphatidylserine promotes killing of normoxic and hypoxic tumor cells. *FASEB J, 23*(8), 2467-2477. doi:10.1096/fj.08-125229
- Schindelin, J., Arganda-Carreras, I., Frise, E., Kaynig, V., Longair, M., Pietzsch, T., Preibisch, S., Rueden, C., Saalfeld, S., Schmid, B., Tinevez, J. Y., White, D. J., Hartenstein, V., Eliceiri, K., Tomancak, P., & Cardona, A. (2012). Fiji: an opensource platform for biological-image analysis. *Nat Methods*, *9*(7), 676-682. doi:10.1038/nmeth.2019
- Schwab, M., & Multhoff, G. (2022). A Low Membrane Hsp70 Expression in Tumor Cells With Impaired Lactate Metabolism Mediates Radiosensitization by NVP-AUY922. *Front Oncol, 12*, 861266. doi:10.3389/fonc.2022.861266
- Schwab, M., Thunborg, K., Azimzadeh, O., von Toerne, C., Shevtsov, M., Zdralevic, M., Pouyssegur, J., Renner, K., Kreutz, M., Vaupel, P., & Multhoff, G. (2022). Down-regulation of cancer metabolism enhances radiosensitivity by impairing the heat shock response [abstract]. Proceedings of the American Association for Cancer Research Annual Meeting 2022; 2022 Apr 8-13. Philadelphia (PA): AACR. *Cancer Res, 82.* (12_Suppl):Abstract nr 5426. doi:10.1158/1538-7445.AM2022-5426
- Schwab, M., Thunborg, K., Azimzadeh, O., von Toerne, C., Werner, C., Shevtsov, M., Di Genio, T., Zdralevic, M., Pouyssegur, J., Renner, K., Kreutz, M., & Multhoff, G. (2021). Targeting Cancer Metabolism Breaks Radioresistance by Impairing the Stress Response. *Cancers (Basel), 13*(15). doi:10.3390/cancers13153762
- Semenza, G. L., Jiang, B. H., Leung, S. W., Passantino, R., Concordet, J. P., Maire, P., & Giallongo, A. (1996). Hypoxia response elements in the aldolase A, enolase 1, and lactate dehydrogenase A gene promoters contain essential binding sites for hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *J Biol Chem*, 271(51), 32529-32537. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.51.32529
- Shamovsky, I., & Nudler, E. (2008). New insights into the mechanism of heat shock response activation. *Cell Mol Life Sci, 65*(6), 855-861. doi:10.1007/s00018-008-7458-y
- Shim, H., Dolde, C., Lewis, B. C., Wu, C. S., Dang, G., Jungmann, R. A., Dalla-Favera, R., & Dang, C. V. (1997). c-Myc transactivation of LDH-A: implications for tumor metabolism and growth. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 94(13), 6658-6663. doi:10.1073/pnas.94.13.6658
- Siska, P. J., Singer, K., Evert, K., Renner, K., & Kreutz, M. (2020). The immunological Warburg effect: Can a metabolic-tumor-stroma score (MeTS) guide cancer immunotherapy? *Immunol Rev, 295*(1), 187-202. doi:10.1111/imr.12846
- Soga, S., Akinaga, S., & Shiotsu, Y. (2013). Hsp90 inhibitors as anti-cancer agents, from basic discoveries to clinical development. *Curr Pharm Des, 19*(3), 366-376. doi:10.2174/138161213804143617

- Sottile, M. L., & Nadin, S. B. (2018). Heat shock proteins and DNA repair mechanisms: an updated overview. *Cell Stress Chaperones, 23*(3), 303-315. doi:10.1007/s12192-017-0843-4
- Sun, W., Zhang, X., Ding, X., Li, H., Geng, M., Xie, Z., Wu, H., & Huang, M. (2015). Lactate dehydrogenase B is associated with the response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in oral squamous cell carcinoma. *PLoS One, 10*(5), e0125976. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0125976
- Sung, H., Ferlay, J., Siegel, R. L., Laversanne, M., Soerjomataram, I., Jemal, A., & Bray, F. (2021). Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. *CA Cancer J Clin, 71*(3), 209-249. doi:10.3322/caac.21660
- Takayama, S., Reed, J. C., & Homma, S. (2003). Heat-shock proteins as regulators of apoptosis. *Oncogene, 22*(56), 9041-9047. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1207114
- Tauffenberger, A., Fiumelli, H., Almustafa, S., & Magistretti, P. J. (2019). Lactate and pyruvate promote oxidative stress resistance through hormetic ROS signaling. *Cell Death Dis, 10*(9), 653. doi:10.1038/s41419-019-1877-6
- Teng, Y., Ngoka, L., Mei, Y., Lesoon, L., & Cowell, J. K. (2012). HSP90 and HSP70 proteins are essential for stabilization and activation of WASF3 metastasispromoting protein. *J Biol Chem*, 287(13), 10051-10059. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.335000
- Testori, A., Richards, J., Whitman, E., Mann, G. B., Lutzky, J., Camacho, L., Parmiani, G., Tosti, G., Kirkwood, J. M., Hoos, A., Yuh, L., Gupta, R., Srivastava, P. K., & Group, C. S. (2008). Phase III comparison of vitespen, an autologous tumor-derived heat shock protein gp96 peptide complex vaccine, with physician's choice of treatment for stage IV melanoma: the C-100-21 Study Group. *J Clin Oncol, 26*(6), 955-962. doi:10.1200/JCO.2007.11.9941
- Thorsteinsdottir, J., Stangl, S., Fu, P., Guo, K., Albrecht, V., Eigenbrod, S., Erl, J., Gehrmann, M., Tonn, J. C., Multhoff, G., & Schichor, C. (2017). Overexpression of cytosolic, plasma membrane bound and extracellular heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) in primary glioblastomas. *J Neurooncol*, 135(3), 443-452. doi:10.1007/s11060-017-2600-z
- Trepel, J., Mollapour, M., Giaccone, G., & Neckers, L. (2010). Targeting the dynamic HSP90 complex in cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer, 10*(8), 537-549. doi:10.1038/nrc2887
- Urbanska, K., & Orzechowski, A. (2019). Unappreciated Role of LDHA and LDHB to Control Apoptosis and Autophagy in Tumor Cells. *Int J Mol Sci, 20*(9). doi:10.3390/ijms20092085
- Vaupel, P., & Multhoff, G. (2021). Revisiting the Warburg effect: historical dogma versus current understanding. *J Physiol, 599*(6), 1745-1757. doi:10.1113/JP278810

- Vinogradov, A. D., & Grivennikova, V. G. (2016). Oxidation of NADH and ROS production by respiratory complex I. *Biochim Biophys Acta, 1857*(7), 863-871. doi:10.1016/j.bbabio.2015.11.004
- Wackerhage, H., Vechetti, I. J., Baumert, P., Gehlert, S., Becker, L., Jaspers, R. T., & de Angelis, M. H. (2022). Does a Hypertrophying Muscle Fibre Reprogramme its Metabolism Similar to a Cancer Cell? *Sports Med.* doi:10.1007/s40279-022-01676-1
- Walenta, S., Wetterling, M., Lehrke, M., Schwickert, G., Sundfor, K., Rofstad, E. K., & Mueller-Klieser, W. (2000). High lactate levels predict likelihood of metastases, tumor recurrence, and restricted patient survival in human cervical cancers. *Cancer Res, 60*(4), 916-921.
- Wang, L., Schumann, U., Liu, Y., Prokopchuk, O., & Steinacker, J. M. (2012). Heat shock protein 70 (Hsp70) inhibits oxidative phosphorylation and compensates ATP balance through enhanced glycolytic activity. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*, *113*(11), 1669-1676. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00658.2012
- Warburg, O. (1956a). On the origin of cancer cells. *Science, 123*(3191), 309-314. doi:10.1126/science.123.3191.309
- Warburg, O. (1956b). On respiratory impairment in cancer cells. *Science, 124*(3215), 269-270.
- Warburg, O., Wind, F., & Negelein, E. (1927). The Metabolism of Tumors in the Body. *J Gen Physiol*, 8(6), 519-530. doi:10.1085/jgp.8.6.519
- Watson, M. J., Vignali, P. D. A., Mullett, S. J., Overacre-Delgoffe, A. E., Peralta, R. M., Grebinoski, S., Menk, A. V., Rittenhouse, N. L., DePeaux, K., Whetstone, R. D., Vignali, D. A. A., Hand, T. W., Poholek, A. C., Morrison, B. M., Rothstein, J. D., Wendell, S. G., & Delgoffe, G. M. (2021). Metabolic support of tumour-infiltrating regulatory T cells by lactic acid. *Nature*, *591*(7851), 645-651. doi:10.1038/s41586-020-03045-2
- Werner, C., Stangl, S., Salvermoser, L., Schwab, M., Shevtsov, M., Xanthopoulos, A., Wang, F., Dezfouli, A. B., Tholke, D., Ostheimer, C., Medenwald, D., Windberg, M., Bache, M., Schlapschy, M., Skerra, A., & Multhoff, G. (2021). Hsp70 in Liquid Biopsies-A Tumor-Specific Biomarker for Detection and Response Monitoring in Cancer. *Cancers (Basel), 13*(15). doi:10.3390/cancers13153706
- Wood, C., Srivastava, P., Bukowski, R., Lacombe, L., Gorelov, A. I., Gorelov, S., Mulders, P., Zielinski, H., Hoos, A., Teofilovici, F., Isakov, L., Flanigan, R., Figlin, R., Gupta, R., Escudier, B., & Group, C. R. S. (2008). An adjuvant autologous therapeutic vaccine (HSPPC-96; vitespen) versus observation alone for patients at high risk of recurrence after nephrectomy for renal cell carcinoma: a multicentre, open-label, randomised phase III trial. *Lancet*, 372(9633), 145-154. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60697-2
- Xian, Z. Y., Liu, J. M., Chen, Q. K., Chen, H. Z., Ye, C. J., Xue, J., Yang, H. Q., Li, J. L., Liu, X. F., & Kuang, S. J. (2015). Inhibition of LDHA suppresses tumor progression in prostate cancer. *Tumour Biol, 36*(10), 8093-8100. doi:10.1007/s13277-015-3540-x

- Yaglom, J. A., Ekhterae, D., Gabai, V. L., & Sherman, M. Y. (2003). Regulation of necrosis of H9c2 myogenic cells upon transient energy deprivation. Rapid deenergization of mitochondria precedes necrosis and is controlled by reactive oxygen species, stress kinase JNK, HSP72 and ARC. J Biol Chem, 278(50), 50483-50496. doi:10.1074/jbc.M306903200
- Yaglom, J. A., Gabai, V. L., & Sherman, M. Y. (2007). High levels of heat shock protein Hsp72 in cancer cells suppress default senescence pathways. *Cancer Res*, *67*(5), 2373-2381. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-3796
- Yang, S., Xiao, H., & Cao, L. (2021). Recent advances in heat shock proteins in cancer diagnosis, prognosis, metabolism and treatment. *Biomed Pharmacother, 142*, 112074. doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2021.112074
- Yang, Y., Su, D., Zhao, L., Zhang, D., Xu, J., Wan, J., Fan, S., & Chen, M. (2014). Different effects of LDH-A inhibition by oxamate in non-small cell lung cancer cells. *Oncotarget*, 5(23), 11886-11896. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.2620
- Yao, F., Zhao, T., Zhong, C., Zhu, J., & Zhao, H. (2013). LDHA is necessary for the tumorigenicity of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Tumour Biol, 34*(1), 25-31. doi:10.1007/s13277-012-0506-0
- Yashin, D. V., Romanova, E. A., Ivanova, O. K., & Sashchenko, L. P. (2016). The Tag7-Hsp70 cytotoxic complex induces tumor cell necroptosis via permeabilisation of lysosomes and mitochondria. *Biochimie*, 123, 32-36. doi:10.1016/j.biochi.2016.01.007
- Zaidi, S., McLaughlin, M., Bhide, S. A., Eccles, S. A., Workman, P., Nutting, C. M., Huddart, R. A., & Harrington, K. J. (2012). The HSP90 inhibitor NVP-AUY922 radiosensitizes by abrogation of homologous recombination resulting in mitotic entry with unresolved DNA damage. *PLoS One, 7*(4), e35436. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0035436
- Zdralevic, M., Brand, A., Di Ianni, L., Dettmer, K., Reinders, J., Singer, K., Peter, K., Schnell, A., Bruss, C., Decking, S. M., Koehl, G., Felipe-Abrio, B., Durivault, J., Bayer, P., Evangelista, M., O'Brien, T., Oefner, P. J., Renner, K., Pouyssegur, J., & Kreutz, M. (2018). Double genetic disruption of lactate dehydrogenases A and B is required to ablate the "Warburg effect" restricting tumor growth to oxidative metabolism. *J Biol Chem*, 293(41), 15947-15961. doi:10.1074/jbc.RA118.004180
- Zdralevic, M., Marchiq, I., de Padua, M. M. C., Parks, S. K., & Pouyssegur, J. (2017). Metabolic Plasiticy in Cancers-Distinct Role of Glycolytic Enzymes GPI, LDHs or Membrane Transporters MCTs. *Front Oncol,* 7, 313. doi:10.3389/fonc.2017.00313
- Zhao, Y. H., Zhou, M., Liu, H., Ding, Y., Khong, H. T., Yu, D., Fodstad, O., & Tan, M. (2009). Upregulation of lactate dehydrogenase A by ErbB2 through heat shock factor 1 promotes breast cancer cell glycolysis and growth. *Oncogene, 28*(42), 3689-3701. doi:10.1038/onc.2009.229

6 Appendix



6.1 Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Ich, Melissa Elisabeth Schwab, erkläre an Eides statt, dass ich die bei der promotionsführenden Einrichtung School of Life Sciences der TUM zur Promotionsprüfung vorgelegte Arbeit mit dem Titel:

Targeting cancer metabolism enhances radiosensitivity by impairing the heat shock response

unter der Anleitung und Betreuung durch: Frau Prof. Dr. Gabriele Multhoff

ohne sonstige Hilfe erstellt und bei der Abfassung nur die gemäß § 7 Abs. 6 und 7 angegebenen Hilfsmittel benutzt habe.

- Ich habe keine Organisation eingeschaltet, die gegen Entgelt Betreuer*innen für die Anfertigung von Dissertationen sucht, oder die mir obliegenden Pflichten hinsichtlich der Prüfungsleistungen für mich ganz oder teilweise erledigt.
- ☐ Ich habe die Dissertation in dieser oder ähnlicher Form in keinem anderen Prüfungsverfahren als Prüfungsleistung vorgelegt.

Teile der Dissertation wurden in Cancers und Frontiers in Oncology veröffentlicht.

☐ Ich habe den angestrebten Doktorgrad noch nicht erworben und bin nicht in einem früheren Promotionsverfahren für den angestrebten Doktorgrad endgültig gescheitert.

	lch	habe	bereits	am	 bei	der	promotionsführenden	Einrichtung
_					 		der	Hochschule
_					 unt	er Vorla	age einer Dissertation mit	dem Thema

die Zulassung zur Promotion beantragt mit dem Ergebnis:

☐ Ich habe keine Kenntnis über ein strafrechtliches Ermittlungsverfahren in Bezug auf wissenschaftsbezogene Straftaten gegen mich oder eine rechtskräftige strafrechtliche Verurteilung mit Wissenschaftsbezug.

Die öffentlich zugängliche Promotionsordnung sowie die Richtlinien zur Sicherung guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis und für den Umgang mit wissenschaftlichem Fehlverhalten der TUM sind mir bekannt, insbesondere habe ich die Bedeutung von § 27 PromO (Nichtigkeit der Promotion) und § 28 PromO (Entzug des Doktorgrades) zur Kenntnis genommen. Ich bin mir der Konsequenzen einer falschen Eidesstattlichen Erklärung bewusst.

Mit der Aufnahme meiner personenbezogenen Daten in die Alumni-Datei bei der TUM bin ich

einverstanden,

nicht einverstanden.

München, 08.08.2022,

Ort, Datum, Unterschrift

6.2 Reprint Permissions

6.2.1 Cancers

Copyrights

Copyright and Licensing

For all articles published in MDPI journals, copyright is retained by the authors. Articles are licensed under an open access Creative Commons CC BY 4.0 license, meaning that anyone may download and read the paper for free. In addition, the article may be reused and quoted provided that the original published version is cited. These conditions allow for maximum use and exposure of the work, while ensuring that the authors receive proper credit.

In exceptional circumstances articles may be licensed differently. If you have specific condition (such as one linked to funding) that does not allow this license, please mention this to the editorial office of the journal at submission. Exceptions will be granted at the discretion of the publisher.

(https://www.mdpi.com/authors/rights; 27/06/2022)

6.2.2 Frontiers in Oncology

Copyright Statement

Under the Frontiers Conditions for Website Use and the Frontiers General Conditions for Authors, authors of articles published in Frontiers journals retain copyright on their articles, except for any third-party images and other materials added by Frontiers, which are subject to copyright of their respective owners. Authors are therefore free to disseminate and re-publish their articles, subject to any requirements of third-party copyright owners and subject to the original publication being fully cited. Visitors may also download and forward articles subject to the citation requirements and subject to any fees Frontiers may charge for downloading licenses. The ability to copy, download, forward or otherwise distribute any materials is always subject to any copyright notices displayed. Copyright notices must be displayed prominently and may not be obliterated, deleted or hidden, totally or partially.

(https://www.frontiersin.org/journals/oncology#about; 27/06/2022)

6.3 Acknowledgment

An erster Stelle möchte ich mich bei Prof. Dr. Gabriele Multhoff für die Möglichkeit bedanken, in ihrer Arbeitsgruppe meine Doktorarbeit anfertigen zu können. Vielen Dank für das spannende Projekt, den Rat bei der Planung der Experimente und die ständige Bereitschaft meine Fragen zu beantworten oder Ergebnisse zu diskutieren. Prof. Dr. Agnes Görlach und Prof. Dr. Udo Gaipl danke ich für die Übernahme der Zweitgutachten sowie Prof. Dr. Percy Knolle für seine Funktion als Prüfungsvorsitzender. Dank gebührt ebenfalls meiner Mentorin Dr. Daniela Schilling, die sich stets Zeit für meine Fragen genommen hat.

Weiterhin möchte ich mich ganz herzlich bei allen ehemaligen und derzeitigen Mitgliedern der Arbeitsgruppe und benachbarten Gruppen für die Zusammenarbeit und die Unterstützung bei allen großen und kleinen Problemen bedanken. Besonders danke ich Dr. Stefan Stangl, Dr. Wolfgang Sievert, Dr. Maxim Shevtsov und Caroline Werner für die Einarbeitung und Hilfe bei der Erlernung neuer Methoden. Dr. Ali Bashiri Dezfouli danke ich für die gute Zusammenarbeit und für die Unterstützung bei den Cytotoxicity Assays. Besonderen Dank auch an Katharina Thunborg, Alicia Hernandez Schnelzer, Marija Pieper, Sophia Arnö, Ann-Kathrin Samt, Katharina Holzmann, Hannah Zanth, Dennis Thölke, Fei Wang, Zhiyuan Wu, Hengyi Fan, Bayan Alqutub und Lisa Bauer für die freundschaftliche Arbeitsatmosphäre und ihre Hilfsbereitschaft. Herzlichen Dank an Anett Lange für die Unterstützung bei allen administrativen und bürokratischen Angelegenheiten. Ich danke auch Prof. Dr. Salome Pinho und ihrer Arbeitsgruppe an der Universität in Porto für die Möglichkeit ein Monat in ihrem Labor Gastforscher als zu arbeiten. Für die finanzielle Unterstützung meines Forschungsprojektes danke ich der Deutschen Forschungsgemeinschaft.

Zuletzt möchte ich meinen Freunden, meiner Familie und meinem Freund Matthias danken, dass sie mich in all den Jahren durch alle Höhen und Tiefen begleitet haben und immer an meiner Seite standen. Ich bin zutiefst dankbar für ihren Glauben an mich, ihre Motivation, aufbauenden Worte und für ihre Unterstützung während meines gesamten Studiums.